# THE RELATIONSHIP OF ABUSE IN CHILDHOOD TO MATERNAL MALTREATMENT OF CHILDREN

by

# Lesley A. Joy

B.Sc. (Hons.), University of Southampton, 1975M.A., University of British Columbia, 1978

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in the Department

of

Psychology

© Lesley A. Joy 1986 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY MARCH, 1986

All rights reserved. This work may not be reproduced in whole or in part, by photocopy or other means, without permission of the author.

#### APPROVAL

Name: LESLEY JOY

Degree: Ph.D. Psychology

Title of thesis: THE RELATIONSHIP OF ABUSE IN CHILDHOOD TO

MATERNAL MALTREATMENT OF CHILDREN

Examining Committee:

Chairman: Dr. C. Crawford

Dr. M. Kimball Senior Supervisor

Dr. E. Ames

Dr. R. Koopman

Dr. J. Marcia
Internal-External Examiner

Dr. C. Newberger
External Examiner
Department of Psychiatry
Harvard Medical School

Date Approved: March 27, 1936

### PARTIAL COPYRIGHT LICENSE

I hereby grant to Simon Fraser University the right to lend my thesis, project or extended essay (the title of which is shown below) to users of the Simon Fraser University Library, and to make partial or single copies only for such users or in response to a request from the library of any other university, or other educational institution, on its own behalf or for one of its users. I further agree that permission for multiple copying of this work for scholarly purposes may be granted by me or the Dean of Graduate Studies. It is understood that copying or publication of this work for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

litie	of inesis/Project/	xtend	led Essay			
The	Relationship of Abu	ıse ir	Childhood	to Maternal	Maltreatment	
of	Children					
<del></del>		<del></del>				
<del> </del>			^			
Author	<b>^;</b>					
	(signature)					
	Lesley A. Joy	<del> </del>				
	(name)					
	April 15, 1986					

(date)

#### **ABSTRACT**

The study of child abuse has been a major research focus since the early 1960's. One prevailing assumption which has remained entrenched in the literature on abuse is the hypothesis of an intergenerational transmission of abuse which specifies that an experience of abuse in childhood is predictive of the adoption of abusive practices as a parent. Empirical and theoretical support for this hypothesis were reviewed. Although theoretical support was indicated, caution was advised with interpretation. Furthermore, empirical evidence appears to have been overstated.

The present study involved four groups of mothers: those with a history of physical and/or emotional abuse as children, who were either maltreating or not maltreating their own children; and mothers without a history of abuse who were either maltreating or not maltreating their own children. The first purpose of the study was to explore the validity of the intergenerational hypothesis of abuse. Results were consistent with predictions generated from the hypothesized cycle of abuse. Based on labeling theory, possible selection biases were proposed to explain this finding. Sampling abusing mothers from treatment programs and nonabusing mothers from volunteer groups may have respectively overrepresented and underrepresented abusive history. For a more representative sample, the cycle hypothesis might not have been supported. The second purpose of

the study was to examine the interaction of childhood experiences with current parenting status on five factors associated with child maltreatment. Specifically, the mothers were compared on their level of self-esteem, perception of their child, level of perceived negative stress, perceived social support, and on the child abuse potential inventory (CAPI). The results indicated that, compared to mothers without a history of abuse, the mothers who had a history of abuse had significantly lower self-esteem and higher purported potential for abuse as indicated by the CAPI. Therefore, self-esteem appeared to be more a function of childhood relationships with parents than a function of current parenting status. The validity of the CAPI for labeling parents at risk for abuse was questioned given that it differentiated the groups by history but not by parenting status.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Meredith Kimball for her constant support, patience, acceptance and faith throughout the time we have worked together. Without her appropriate guidance I would not have given birth to my dream.

Secondly, I feel extremely privileged to have had the opportunity to work with Dr. Elinor Ames. She has been a continual source of inspiration and her constructive crticisms have been both provocative and invaluable.

This work would not have been completed without the patient understanding of Dr. Ray Koopman. His willingness to explain a concept or process "one more time" and availability were much appreciated.

I would also like to thank Joan Foster who smoothed the path.

to Ray's door. Apart from being a friend and source of support,

her willingness to decipher each error message made the

challenge of the computer that much more fun.

This project was only possible because of the support and cooperation of Margo Buck, Rose Masovitch and Susan Irwin, the directors of the three treatment programs for maltreating parents. They gave me encouragement after many people had denied me access to abusing populations. I would especially like to thank all the women who participated in my study and acknowledge

their courage in exposing themselves to me.

I have thoroughly enjoyed my time as a graduate student at Simon Fraser University, which has been both stimulating and rewarding. My only regret is that it is all over. Thank you one and all.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Appro	oval ii				
ABSTE	RACT iii				
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS v					
List	of Tables ix	C			
I.	INTRODUCTION	l			
	Models of Etiology 3	3			
	Cycle of Violence	7			
	Definitions of Abuse 40	)			
	The Present Study 44	1			
II.	METHODOLOGY 74	1			
	Subjects 74	1			
	Measures 87	7			
	Procedures 96	5			
III.	RESULTS 100	)			
-	The cycle of abuse	C			
	Correlates of Abuse	3			
IV.	DISCUSSION 109	9			
Appendix A 130					
	Description of the three treatment programs for abusive parents	0			
APPENDIX B					
	Participant's Information Document	3			
APPENDIX C 1					
	Structured Interview Protocol	5			

APPENDIX D	137
Coding Protocol for Objective Definition of History of Physical Abuse	137
APPENDIX E	140
Demographic Characteristics	140
APPENDIX F	143
"Background Information" Questionnaire	143
APPENDIX G	145
Consent Form	145
APPENDIX H	147
Results of Analyses of Variance on the five dependent variables	147
REFERENCES	152

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1	Design of study 74
2	Emotionally abused as a child 79
3	Physically abused as a child - subjectively defined 80
4	Physically abused as a child - objectively defined 82
5	Chi square analysis - Emotionally abused 102
6	Chi square analysis - Physically abused subjective 102
7	Chi square analysis - Physically abused objective 103
8	Estimated effects for the four groups on the CAPI 107
9	Estimated effects for the four groups for self-esteem . 107
10	Estimated effects for PAT, education x status interaction

#### CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Child abuse is not a new phenomenon. However, research in this area was virtually non-existent prior to 1960. Professionals generally acknowledged the problem when "The Battered Child Syndrome" was published in 1962 (Kempe, Silverman, Steele, Droegemueller & Silver). Initially, researchers were primarily faced with the issues of showing that child abuse did exist and of establishing the incidence rates (e.g., Gelles, 1978; Gil, 1969). Attention was also directed towards identifying factors associated with child abuse that could be used to explain its ocurrence (e.g., Melnick & Hurley, 1969; Spinetta & Rigler, 1972; Steele & Pollock, 1968). The underlying assumption was that parents who abused their children were a homogeneous group. Consequently, a single etiological model was sought that could explain all forms of maltreatment by all adults. However, the growing body of research soon revealed that this was an untenable position. In the process of taking a more sophisticated approach to the problem, researchers developed a more encompassing, integrated orientation based on Bronfenbrenner's (1977) ecological model of human development (Belsky, 1980; Garbarino, 1977). This model focused on how the individual developed interactively with the social environment. Recognition that child abuse was not a unidimensional problem led to more specific questions concerning child abuse. Namely, how did acts of physical abuse, emotional abuse and neglect

differ? Were the developmental sequaelae different for children exposed to different forms of abuse? Were the prediposing factors different for various forms of abuse? It subsequently became apparent that although the actual act of physical abuse, for example, might be similar across situations, the underlying motivation of the parents varied. It could be that the parent was lashing out in anger to some frustration, or was being overzealous in the act of physical punishment, or was displaying an ongoing pathology (e.g., Kent, Weisberg, Lamar & Marx, 1983).

One prevailing assumption which has remained entrenched in the literature on abuse and in the minds of practitioners working in the area, is the idea of an intergenerational transmission of abuse that is based on the often reported finding that the majority of identified maltreating parents, especially those attending treatment programs, had a background of abusive experience in their own childhoods, it was assumed that being abused as a child would result in the adoption of abusive practices as a parent (Spinetta & Rigler, 1972). Further insight into the problem of child abuse suggested that this was too simple a notion (Potts & Herzberger, 1979), notwithstanding the strong theoretical support proposed for the existence of a cycle. Specifically, this support was based on learning theories of Bandura (1973) and Patterson (1976), and psychodynamic approaches (e.g., Green, 1976) of which attachment theory (Ainsworth, 1973; Bowlby, 1969) is a major component. Coupled with the realization that not all abused children became abusive

parents came the need to explain the dynamics involved in being an "exception". Likewise, when stress, for example, was identified as a predisposing factor for abuse, it became pertinent to explain why all parents experiencing high levels of stress did not resort to abuse of their children. Thus, research attention was focused on identifying the predisposing factors of abuse, and which variables acted as mediators. Consequently, researchers examined, for example, the role of self-esteem (e.g., Anderson & Lauderdale, 1982; Melnick & Hurley, 1969; Shorkey & Armendariz, 1985), parental expectations and perceptions of their child (e.g., Herrenkohl & Herrenkohl, 1979; Mash, Johnston & Kovitz, 1983; Wolfe & Mosk, 1983), social isolation and existence of support networks (e.g., Belsky, 1980; Cochran & Brassard, 1979; Garbarino & Gilliam, 1980) and stress (e.g., Egeland & Brunnquell, 1979; Straus, 1980) in the etiology of child abuse. The considerable body of literature concerning the issues of etiology, intergenerational transmission of abuse, definitions of abuse and predisposing factors will be discussed in the following sections.

# Models of Etiology

Three general theoretical models were initially proposed to explain the etiology of child abuse: the psychiatric, the sociological and the effect of the child on the caregiver (see Belsky, 1978; Parke & Collmer, 1975 for reviews). There existed little consensus among professionals as to which model was most

applicable. Moreover, this lack of consensus combined with the difficulties defining what constituted abusive acts resulted in singular and narrow theoretical and methodological approaches to the problem being adopted (Gelles, 1980).

In addition, a pervasive problem encountered in the study of child abuse, which is very pertinent to the etiology, concerns the biases that are present in the samples of abusing parents studied. That is, because child abuse is social deviance all the cases studied are influenced by the social process by which the individuals are labeled and designated as deviants (Gelles, 1975). Certain biases in the individuals involved in the processes of identification, reporting and referral for treatment are important to consider if appropriate models of etiology, intervention, treatment and prevention are to be developed. Thus, Gelles proposed that the following issues need to be investigated along with the direct study of abusing and nonabusing families, who are the "gatekeepers" in the system, i.e., those individuals or agencies that do the public labeling of abuse; what definitions or standards are employed by the gatekeepers; under what conditions are labels applied, and what are the criteria to label some people abusers and others nonabusers keeping in mind that by investigating only identified populations of abusers researchers are restricted to studying the "less" successful deviants (i.e., those who were caught as opposed to those who get away with the same acts); and finally, what are the consequences of the labeling process. Therefore,

throughout the following discussion, the biases inherent in the populations studied should be considered. Any porposed model is only as good as the data used as support. Thus, when building models in the area of child abuse, a persistent problem arises because of the samples are non-representative. Models built from more representative samples might well be different.

With the above caveat in mind, the three models of etiology initially proposed will be reviewed and assessed in light of the recently proposed integrated ecological models of Belsky (1980) and Garbarino (1977).

## The Psychiatric Model

Underlying this model is the basic assumption that factors within the individual abuser are responsible for child maltreatment. Although this implied that child abusers were psychologically disturbed, Kempe (1973) estimated that only 10% of child abusing adults can properly be labelled mentally ill. However, researchers continued to attempt to discover distinctive personality characteristics and attitudes. Abusers in comparison to nonabusing adults were found to have poor impulse control (Spinetta & Rigler, 1972); to have lower self-esteem along with inappropriate demands for love and care (Ebeling & Hill, 1983; Melnick & Hurley, 1969), to be more depressed (Elmer, 1967), to have unrealistic expectations of their children, to exhibit parent-child role reversals and to have poor knowledge of their child's developing competencies

(e.g., DeLozier, 1982; Green, 1976; Helfer & Kempe, 1968; Spinetta & Rigler, 1972; Steele & Pollock, 1968; Vesterdal, 1978); and to be hostile, aggressive or angry, rigid, cold, compulsive or disciplinarian (Lamar, as cited in Kent et al., 1983) Overall, this approach has not been successful in identifying a reliable, comprehensive cluster of characteristics. Gelles (1973) found that of 19 traits identified by various researchers as characteristic of abusers, only four have been cited by two or more authors. The one characteristic that abusers repeatedly have been reported to share is a history of maltreatment in their own childhoods (Curtis, 1963; Hunter, Kilstrom, Kraybill & Loda, 1978; Hunter & Kilstrom, 1979; Kempe et al., 1962; Parke & Collmer, 1975; Spinetta & Rigler, 1972; Steele & Pollock, 1968). Such consensus, however, should not be considered to establish the fact of an intergenerational transmission of violence. Many researchers have questioned the validity of the implication that each abused child will grow up to be an abusing parent (Belsky, 1978; 1980; Cicchetti & Aber, 1980; Jayaratne, 1977; Potts & Hertzberger, 1979). (This issue will be discussed in more detail in the section on the cycle of violence.) Disillusionment with the failure to identify the cause of child maltreatment within the individual led researchers to explore a more sociological approach to the problem.

Proponents of this model proposed that it is forces within society that are primarily responsible for the occurrence of child abuse. Under the auspices of this model, cultural sanctions of violence (e.g., Gil, 1970), community influences (e.g., Elmer, 1967; Garbarino, 1976; Spinetta & Rigler, 1972), and familial interactions were examined (e.g., Burgess & Conger, 1978; Parke & Collmer, 1975; Patterson, 1982). The underlying assumption of this model is that when families are subjected to stress, violence is likely to result, one form of which may be abuse of a child (Belsky, 1978). Sources of stress identified and hence found to be characteristic of abusing families were low socioeconomic status (e.g., Elmer, 1967; Gil, 1969; Pelton, 1978; Spinetta & Rigler, 1972); poor social networks and social isolation (e.g., Cochran & Brassard, 1979; Elmer, 1967; Garbarino, 1976; 1977; Garbarino & Sherman, 1980; Gaudin & Pollane, 1983; Salzinger, Kaplan & Artemyeff, 1983; Young, 1964); greater unemployment (Gelles, 1973; Gil, 1971; Light, 1973; Spinetta & Rigler, 1972) and larger family size with closer spacing of children (Gil, 1969; Hunter et al., 1978; Light, 1973; Parke & Collmer, 1975). Furthermore, studies examining interaction patterns in abusive compared to nonabusive families have found that parents who abuse use excessive punishment with their children (Burgess & Conger, 1978; Kent et al.w 1983; Parke, 1978; Parke & Collmer, 1975) and display patterns of aversive behaviour (i.e., behaviours which belong to the same response class as aggression) which serve to maintain cycles of coercion (i.e., control-by-pain) within the family (Patterson, 1982; Wolfe, 1985).

Although the preceding conditions are commonly associated with child abuse, they do not, in and of themselves, produce abusive behaviour. Individual coping strategies and styles are important to consider; many poor, unemployed parents with large families experiencing considerable stress do not resort to abuse. Thus, it became apparent that although the sociological model was helpful in isolating predisposing factors in accounting for abuse, it was not sufficient as a model for etiology. Therefore, it was necessary to identify other parameters of influence in the abuse process, one of which was the child's role in his/her own maltreatment.

# The Effect of the Child on the Caregiver Model

The premise of this causal model recognized that children can influence the behaviour of their parents, and that the process of socialization is not unidirectional (Bell, 1974). This recognition, combined with the research and clinical findings that often a single child within a family is the target for abuse (Milowe & Lourie, 1964) led investigators to examine what factors might implicate the child as a causative agent in the abuse process.

A preponderance of certain child characteristics have commonly been associated with being abused. Many of these

represent factors over which the child has no control. For example, being an unwanted child, resulting from an unplanned pregnancy (Blumberg, 1974); being the "wrong" sex (Martin, 1976); or being physically unattractive (Dion, 1974). Premature infants, with low birth weights and early gestational age, also appear to be overrepresented in abuse statistics (Elmer & Gregg, 1967; Hunter et al, 1978; Lynch, 1976). These are characteristics of infants who are difficult to care for. Some infants might also possess attributes which do not match the expectations of the caregiver, such as mismatches in temperament and activity level (Parke & Collmer, 1975; Thomas, Chess & Birch, 1970) and need for physical contact (i.e., "cuddly" versus "non-cuddly" babies) (Schaffer & Emerson, 1964), which potentially place the infant at increased risk for abuse. Factors such as infant illness or birth complications, which result in prolonged separation of the parent and child during the first months after birth have also been implicated in the etiology of abuse (Ounsted & Lynch, 1976; Ounsted, Oppenheimer & Lindsay, 1974). It is hypothesized that this separation will interfere with the healthy development of attachment between the parent and child, thus rendering the child potentially more at risk for abuse (Ainsworth, 1980; Bowlby, 1969; Egeland & Sroufe, 1981a; Klaus & Kennell, 1976).

Researchers have also investigated characteristics of the child that might cause abuse which are under the control of the child. These include the child's response to parental discipline

(Parke, 1974); acting aggressively to escalate the level of coercion within families (Patterson, 1982); and interacting aggressively and inappropriately in social interactions with both peers and adult caregivers (George & Main, 1979; Main & George, 1985).

As is apparent from this brief review of the role of the child in an abusive situation, the child must be considered as an integral part of the system in which maltreatment occurs. However, the child alone does not cause the abuse. Child maltreatment must be considered an interactive process.

Therefore, any model that is narrow in scope, focusing upon a single element (that is, the parent, the child, or environmental factors) in the overall constellation must inevitably fail in its attempt to account for the child abuse phenomenon.

# The Integrative Approach--The Ecological Model

Kempe & Kempe (1978) recognized that isolating single causes. of child abuse was not sufficient. They proposed that an interaction of 4 factors was necessary for an abusive incident to occur. Specifically, parents must have a background of emotional or physical deprivation, the child is seen as unloving or disappointing, there must be a precipitating crisis and no lifeline exists in order to get help. Although abuse is highly likely to occur with these 4 factors present, this framework does not encompass other situations where abuse occurs and the parent does not have a deprived background, or no crisis is

apparent.

Moreover, the accumulation of research findings over the last 10 years specifying those factors prevalent in abusing families has suggested that Kempe & Kempe's guidelines for necessary conditions for abusive interactions were too limited. Hence a more encompassing ecological integration was proposed independently by two researchers (Belsky, 1980; Garbarino, 1977). Their models were remarkably similar, though the terminology varied somewhat. Both models drew heavily on Bronfenbrenner's (1977) model of the ecology of human development, which focused on how the individual developed interactively with the social environment, defined as a network of interrelated systems.

Belsky (1980) stated that his ecological integration:

conceptualizes child maltreatment as a social-psychological phenomenon that is multiply determined by forces at work in the individual (ontogenic development), and the family (the microsystem), as well as in the community (the exosystem) and the culture (the macrosystem) in which both the individual and the family are embedded. (p.1)

Belsky was not proposing the existence of different predisposing factors for abuse than those identified previously. He was sugesting that instead of looking at these factors individually and in isolation, they be seen as ecologically nested within one another, and by definition interactive. At this point of conceptualization, Belsky did not detail the necessary and

sufficient conditions for child maltreatment. He believed that futher data were required to identify such conditions, for example, must predisposing factors be present at each of the four levels of analysis for child maltreatment to occur?

In contrast, Garbarino (1977) hypothesized in his ecological model two necessary, though not sufficient conditions for child maltreatment to occur. The first condition concerned the social defintion of children in relation to parents, which involved the cultural support for violence against children. That is, children are defined as the property of their parents and the use of physical force against children is sanctioned by society. Both conditions are met in American Society (Gil, 1970; Parke & Collmer, 1975; Zigler, 1979). The second necessary condition involved the relationship of the family to the social environment. That is, it was necessary that the parent-child relationship be socially isolated from possible support systems. Garbarino further posited that there were multiple sufficient conditions for child maltreatment, namely those predisposing factors discussed previously. Thus, if any one or combination of these factors occurred together with the two necessary conditions previously specified, child maltreatment would likely be the outcome.

Garbarino outlined in his model 4 different levels of predisposing factors, and other than the labels assigned, the structure was identical to Belsky's (1980) model. The first level, individual, included the personal characteristics of the

parent and child that are brought to bear on the parent-child relationship (Belsky's ontogenic development). The second level, familial, included factors dealing with family interaction patterns and relationships (Belsky's microsystem). For the factors in the third level, social, Garbarino recognized that the individual and the family are embedded within larger social units. Thus, factors such as social networks, support systems and socioeconomic determinants (e.g., income, unemployment) are examined within this level (Belsky's exosystem). Finally, the fourth level, cultural, included factors that reflect the prevalence and acceptance of violence as a cultural attitude (Belsky's macrosystem).

Central to Garbarino's model is the assumption that stress is subjective, an internal state. Thus, a certain life event may be perceived as stressful by one person but not by another. Furthermore, whether an event is perceived as stressful is mediated by the individual's social support system. As mentioned previously, Garbarino maintained that child maltreatment can occur only when a family is isolated from social supports. In their representation of Garbarino's model, Howze & Kotch (1984) proposed that circumstances leading to abuse are the result of the interaction of life events and those factors grouped into the four levels of the ecological model, mediated by the social support system. The predisposing factors and social support intervene between life events and stress and thus are integral as to whether an event is perceived as stressful or not.

Employing an integrated ecological model permits explanations as to why many parents experiencing stressful circumstances do not resort to child maltreatment. This is because the framework recognizes the interactive nature of causal factors. In order to obtain a more complete understanding of the etiology of child maltreatment, the complexities of the phenomenon need to be recognized. Moreover, it may be important to view child maltreatment as a point along a more general continuum of caregiver-child relations. Abusive relationships, in general, may only be quantitatively different from nonabusive relationships and not qualitatively deviant (Garbarino & Gilliam, 1980). Because nonabusive parents are not a homogeneous group identifiable by a distinct set of characteristics, the range of individual differences among parents who abuse their children should be recognized as well. Thus it is suggested that focusing on any one characteristic of abusing parents is too limiting an approach.

## Caveat I

As mentioned at the beginning of this section on models of etiology, the models are only as good as the data used for support. Since several levels of bias are operating when most abusing families are studied, the preceding discussion on the etiology of abuse must be considered in light of these biases. Two recent studies (Hampton & Newberger, 1985; Jason, Andereck, Marks & Tyler, 1982) addressed the issue of biases in reported samples of abusing parents and isolated at risk factors that

were more pertinent to reporting bias compared to those relevant for being at risk for perpetrating abuse. Specifically, Hampton and Newberger obtained reports from 70 hospitals on suspected cases of child abuse before reports were made and ascertained the differences between cases which were reported and those which were not. Their findings suggested that social class and race were the most important characteristics that distinguished reported from unreported cases of abuse (i.e., black and low income families were more likely to be reported). Degree of severity of the abuse became important only when income was excluded from the analyses. Consequently, it appeared that socially marginal families may be victimized by a process in which their personal characteristics rather than their behaviour define them as deviant. The results revealed that large numbers of cases of suspected abuse were not reported, which Hampton and Newberger attributed, at least in part, to the lack of concise definitions of what constitutes abuse. This was especially evident in the underreporting of emotional abuse and neglect. This study revealed a first level of bias at the point of recognition of abuse and reporting.

Jason et al. (1982) examined the biases operating in the determination of suspected cases of child abuse as confirmed compared to those which were ruled-out. Suspected cases of abuse reported to the Georgia Child Abuse Registry were classified, once investigated, as "confirmed", "nonconfirmable", or "ruled-out". A characteristic was defined as associated with

increased risk for abuse as compared to increased risk for reporting only when the characteristic was more prevalent in confirmed cases than in ruled-out cases.

The findings indicated that 4 presumed risk factors or high risk groups for child abuse (i.e., urban residence, younger children, teenage mothers and mothers as compared to fathers), were related to heightened suspicion and not necessarily to true risk. Four other characteristics were associated with true increased risk for child abuse, these were large families, households without a natural mother or without a natural father, and low socioeconomic status. The authors caution, however, that the increased risk associated with the latter 4 factors was small.

In summary, the findings from these 2 research studies and Gelles' (1975) identification of levels of bias operating in the labeling of abusers illustrates the necessity of adopting a systematic, sophisticated approach to the study of child abuse. Isolating single causes of abuse, given the diversity of the characteristics of the individuals perpetrating the abuse (i.e., race, family dynamics, levels of SES etc), now appears ludicrous. However, there still remains one factor about which there has been considerable agreement as being common to abusing parents, which is having a history of maltreatment in their own childhoods. This finding, unfortunately, has been interpreted as evidence for a causal process, that is, if a person was abused as a child, s/he is likely to become an abusing parent. The

validity of this intergenerational hypothesis will be examined in the next section.

# Cycle of Violence

## Theoretical Models and Empirical Evidence

Theoretical models relevant for explaining the intergenerational transmission of child abuse stem primarily from two sources: learning theories and psychodynamic approaches, including attachment theory as a major component within the psychodynamic orientation. In an attempt to explain why the experience of abuse should result in an abusive personality, proponents of Social Learning Theory (Bandura, 1973) suggested that abuse represents the imitation of parenting practices experienced as a child. That is, abusive parents serve as models of aggressive behaviour for their children (Parke & Collmer, 1975). Since the abused child is exposed to a powerful role model, who appears to suffer no adverse consequences for his or her behaviour, the child learns that violence is an acceptable and appropriate way to interact within the family, and so repeats this pattern upon becoming a parent. Associated with this argument is a second learning explanation which assumes that abuse is a general aggressive behaviour for which the abuser, as a child, was reinforced. Thus, this behaviour is maintained into adulthood. This position is explained by the

work of Patterson and his colleagues who have demonstrated that members within a family characterised by coercive patterns are unintentionally instrumental in rewarding antisocial behaviour, which becomes incorporated into the child's behavioural repertoire (e.g., Patterson, 1976).

These explanations need not be mutually exclusive. Moreover, both seem more applicable for the subsequent occurrence of physical abuse, which is a more salient behaviour than emotional abuse. Saliency, it is suggested, may be important for learning through imitation and reinforcement. On the other hand, it is suggested that emotional abuse is a more pervasive, less tangible type of behaviour, the impact of which involves the disruption of personality development in young children and their sense of trust. Thus, emotional abuse is probably less likely than physical abuse to be learned directly and hence imitated. In sum, the learning theorists suggested that we learn parenting behaviours from the example set by our own parents (Gelles & Straus, 1979; Parke, 1978; Steele, 1976).

Gelfand et al. (1974) found support for this proposal in their study on modeling of punitive tactics. These investigators found that a child disciplined by an adult with punitive tactics was more likely to use similar punitive techniques when given the opportunity to train another child. However, there is not complete agreement with this assumption that we learn to parent from the way we were parented. For example, Gelso, Birk, and Powers (1978) did not find a relationship between their

participants' own attitudes concerning child rearing and their recollected perceptions of their own parents' attitudes towards them during childhood. They concluded that only to a modest degree do people learn to parent directly from their own parents. However, this study did employ retrospective data, the validity of which has been questioned (Yarrow, Campbell & Burton, 1970). On the other hand, it is still possible that physically abusive behaviour, perhaps being more salient than other parenting practices, would be more likely to be imitated.

Crittenden (1984) found further support for the premise that children imitate their mothers' pattern of childrearing. Abused, neglected, problematic and normally reared infants (6 to 11 months) were observed interacting with their mothers, a sibling (from 2 to 10 years) and with a second adult. Siblings were found to interact with the infant in a manner similar to that of their mothers (in all 4 groups), suggesting that they had learned their style of interacting from their mothers. The possibility that infant temperament had influenced both the siblings' and mothers' style of interacting was ruled out by the results of the observations of the infant interacting with the second adult. These interactions did not follow the same pattern as those with mothers for the majority of infants. Therefore, Crittenden concluded that adults were found to influence infants more than the reverse. Although she specified that her data did not explain the mechanism by which the child's learning occurs, modeling behaviour based on observation of the mother was

offered as one possibility. Furthermore, Crittenden warned not to interpret these results as evidence that early sibling behaviour will be predictive of their ultimate parenting style. Many future experiences may intervene to affect the sibling's later parental behaviour. However, that children were influenced by their parents' childrearing styles was suggested by these findings.

The second approach addressing the process involved in the intergenerational transmission of abuse is the psychodynamic approach. For this approach, the focus is on the developmental consequences of emotional abuse (with or without attendant physical abuse), specifically, the outcome stemming from the early experience of not being adequately "mothered". Steele and Pollock (1968) for example, suggested that emotionally abused children have been deprived of "basic mothering" and consequently lack "the deep sense of being cared for and cared about from the beginning of life" (p. 112). As a result of the absence of a warm and caring relationship in childhood, the parents turn toward their own children to meet their emotional needs (DeLozier, 1982; Green, 1976; Melnick & Hurley, 1969). When the children are unable to meet these unreasonable demands, the parents become frustrated and perceive the children as deliberately displeasing them, and abuse (either physical and/or emotional) occurs. Steele and Pollock (1968) also suggested that abused parents identify with the children, viewing them as consisting of their "bad selves" and thus in need of harsh

treatment, which is manifested as physical abuse. It is also possible that children who are difficult and are especially taxing for parents, might be perceived as in need of punishment. That is, children who for example, display irregular biological functioning, slow adaptability to environmental change, or negative mood as described by Thomas et al. (1970), or frequent fussing and crying and poor soothability as described by Bates, Freeland, & Lounsbury (1979), might be perceived by the parents as deliberately displeasing them because of their difficultness and thus in need of punishment.

In addition, a further psychodynamic explanation of the outcome of not being adequately "mothered" draws upon attachment theory. Bowlby (1969) initially proposed that the child's first attachment to his or her major caregiver was the most important relationship and the blueprint for all subsequent relationships. Thus it follows that a disruption in the development of that first attachment, as might be hypothesized to happen when abuse occurs, would have implications for the development of parental behaviour and the development of attachment in the next generation. However, attachment theorists have more recently recognized the importance of the child's relationship to significant others in his or her environment, e.g., father (if mother is the primary caregiver), siblings, peers, extended family, etc. (Ainsworth, 1982). Thus, there is no longer the implication that "the nature of the original infant-mother attachment sets the continuing pattern of that relationship

without consideration of subsequent events that may alter or disrupt the relationship for better or worse" (Ainsworth, 1982, p. 13).

The possibility of the child developing attachments other than to the abusing primary caregiver, or that the nature of the primary attachment relationship might change, suggests important implications for changing the hypothesized generational pattern of abuse. The assumption for the intergenerational transmission hypothesis appears to hinge on the child lacking a sense of being cared for or about (Steele & Pollock, 1968). The child, in this situation, does not develop a secure attachment (Egeland & Sroufe, 1981a). Hence, if there is no intervention children will display a pattern of insecurity in their subsequent attachments. Consequently, as parents they would not develop secure attachments to their own children. This would likely result in the second generation of children developing a sense of not being cared for or about. Therefore, the cycle of attachment dysfunction would be perpetuated.

Thus, if findings from research guided by attachment theory are applicable for explaining the intergenerational transmission of abuse, the quality of the child's attachment is an important dimension to consider. Ainsworth and her colleagues (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters & Wall, 1978) developed a system for classifying the child's attachment qualitatively. They identified three individual patterns of organization of an infant's behaviour to his/her mother, which they labelled Group A (anxious-avoidant

attachment); Group B (secure attachment) and Group C (anxious-ambivalent attachment). In addition, one main dimension of maternal behaviour was identified which was especially related to the infant's behaviour, namely, the mother's degree of sensitivity in responding to her infant's needs and signals (Ainsworth, 1982). Further examination of the mother's behaviour revealed that mothers who were insensitive to their infants behaved in a rejecting, interfering or ignoring way towards their children. Rejecting mothers were found on occasion to be overwhelmed by feelings of impatience, irritation and resentment toward their child (Ainsworth, 1982). Furthermore, these mothers were found to have a deep aversion to close bodily contact (Blehar, Ainsworth & Main, as reported in Ainsworth, 1982). These women were found to be predominantly the mothers of Group A infants--those with anxious-avoidant attachment. The dimension that differentiated mothers of anxiously attached infants who were avoidant (Group A) from mothers of anxiously attached infants who were ambivalent (Group C) was their level of rejection. Mothers of Group C infants were not rejecting. Their insensitivity to infant cues meant they were inconsistent in their responding but they seemed to enjoy close bodily contact.

In sum, infants with anxious-avoidant attachments have mothers who are insensitive and rejecting. Moreover, it is suggested that these mothers tend to be those who would be classified as abusive, and that abused infants exhibit primarily anxious-avoidant patterns of attachment. Support for this

suggestion was found in the description given of Group A mothers as being angry, perceiving the demands of the baby as interfering with their other interests and activities, and making negative, critical comments about their babies or expressing regret that they had had a baby (Ainsworth, 1982). This description is consistent with a definition of emotionally abusive behaviour. Furthermore, Egeland & Sroufe (1981a) found that physically abused or physically abused/neglected infants were predominantly classified as demonstrating patterns of anxious-avoidant attachment (57%) at 12 months. The remainder were classified as securely attached. In comparison, the excellent care group contained a larger proportion of securely attached infants (75%) at 12 months. Thus, if patterns of attachment are maintained into adulthood, these anxiously-attached infants would probably exhibit attachment difficulties as adults. Descriptions given of them as adults might well resemble those given of their mothers, providing some support for the cycle hypothesis. However, an interesting finding reported by Egeland and Sroufe was the instability of attachment classifications in the indadequate care group from 12 to 18 months. By 18 months, 75% of the abused infants were classified as securely attached. They speculated that changes toward secure attachment involved instances where the mother's life was more stable and a supportive family member was present (usually the grandmother). Thus, support was provided for Ainsworth's (1982) contention that patterns of attachment can change for the better. It should not be assumed that initial

attachments set the stage for all future attachments. However, without some kind of intervention, the patterns of attachment might remain stable throughout development.

The attachment research reviewed is all correlational, specifying that infants with certain kinds of attachment tend to have mothers who display certain behaviours and possess certain characteristics. These studies are not addressing which factors are causal in the development of specific attachment patterns. Thus, a combination of scenarios are possible, for example, an infant defined as difficult (e.g., displaying a difficult temperament, or having characteristics which make them difficult to care for such as prematurity, low birth weight, colic) might "cause" the mother to be insensitive to her infant's signals and to possibly become rejecting which are likely to lead to the infant developing an insecure attachment. Alternatively, insensitive and/or rejecting mothers or mothers who perceive problems with their infants and who subsequently reject them, would also likely have infants with insecure attachments. The quality of the attachment between a mother and her infant is based on an interaction between the two and the present review of the attachment literature is not proposing a causal direction.

Rohner and Rohner (1980), in support of the intergenerational transmission of child abuse, elaborated upon how a parental acceptance-rejection theory had consistent effects on the personality development of children. They argued

that rejected or emotionally abused children, in the absence of positive, counteracting experiences, tended more than accepted children to be hostile, aggressive, to have an impaired sense of self-esteem, to be emotionally unstable, emotionally unresponsive and to have a negative world view. These are characteristics that are often used to describe abusive parents (see earlier section of the psychiatric model). Rohner & Rohner suggested that adults who were rejected as children and who become parents are therefore more likely to reject their own children, and so perpetuate the cycle.

However, Main and Goldwyn (1984) found that the mechanisms of the cycle were more complex than the previously-cited position that posited that if one was rejected as a child, then one will also reject as a parent. These researchers inferred that there was a strong tendency for mothers who had been rejected by their mothers to subsequently reject their own children. However, there were individual differences noted, and some mothers did not repeat this cycle. What appeared to differentiate between repeaters and non-repeaters was the degree to which these women had integrated their past experiences. Specifically, women who were unable to recall their childhoods and/or who idealized their own rejecting mothers tended to reject their own children. In contrast, women who expressed anger and resentment toward their own mothers and were coherent regarding their own feelings and experiences concerning attachment were not likely to reject their children. As Main &

# Goldwyn noted:

...a mother's childhood experiences do not themselves lead to the compulsion to repeat; rather, these experiences are seen as leading to the construction of mental structures or representations which continue to guide experience in adulthood. (p. 214).

Fraiberg, Adelson & Shapiro (1980) found that maltreating mothers did not repeat the cycle if they were able to integrate their memories of past abusive experiences into current understanding and experience their own resulting anger. Drawing upon this finding, Main and Goldwyn (1984) concluded: "We are condemned to repeat what we cannot remember, rather than being condemned to repeat indefinitely." (p. 214). However, Fraiberg et al. (1980) proposed that merely remembering the events of childhood was not a sufficient condition for breaking the cycle. Rather, they suggested that the crucial element was remembering the affect that was associated with the abusive events. Thus, instead of repressing the feelings and developing the defense of identification with the aggressor, the women who were not repeating the cycle could recall how they had felt as children. They were able to identify with their children and so not harm them.

Two further studies have examined child abuse in the light of attachment theory (DeLozier, 1982; Scott, 1980). DeLozier (1982) proposed that patterns of abusive caretaker behaviour reflect inadequate earlier development of attachment in abusive

mothers, as well as current attachment disorders. The abusing mothers as compared to the control mothers were found to have experienced severe threats of abandonment and harm in their childhoods, and exhibited as adults general uncertainty as to the availability of significant others, a failure to develop adequate internal representation of attachment figures, and increased feelings of fear, being alone and isolated at the time of the birth of the later-abused child. They indicated a high current level of attachment disorders displaying primarily anxious attachment. DeLozier concluded that the abusing mothers had experienced difficulty in their childhood attachments and in the development of internal representations of significant others as accessible and reliable. This had resulted in consequent adult attachment difficulties and inappropriate caretaking behaviour.

In a similar study, Scott (1980) hypothesized that mothers of abused children would differ from mothers of nonabused children in: 1) early childhood experiences related to the development of attachment; 2) subsequent affiliative behaviour in adolescence and adulthood; and 3) subsequent parental behaviour. Scott found suppport for these hypotheses. The social history indicators that significantly discriminated between groups, included: 1) separation from one or both parents or abuse in childhood; 2) delinquency or placement in a foster home or institution in adolescence; 3) psychiatric problems, drug or alcohol abuse, police involvement, or assault by a significant

male in adulthood; and 4) temporary or long-term separation from one or more of their own children prior to the abuse incident. Scott concluded that these findings supported the use of attachment theory as a valid theoretical framework for increased understanding of child abuse. However, Scott's inference that suffering adverse or traumatic experiences in childhood is part of the cycle through which abuse is perpetuated is fallacious, without noting the full extent of the intricacies of the situation. That is, as suggested by Main and Goldwyn (1984) and by Fraiberg et al. (1980), it is necessary to consider more than merely the occurrence of the experiences. In addition, assessing how the mothers have subjectively dealt with their childhood abusive experiences is important, as recollection of past acts and the associated affects might mediate the cycle.

Further evidence of the complexities of a hypothesis of intergenerational transmission of abuse was provided by Hunter and Kilstrom (1979) in their prospective study of the antecendents of abuse and neglect of premature infants. Of the 49 families with a history of maltreatment in childhood, 40 parents were not among those later reported for abuse or neglect of their babies (i.e., non repeaters). Infants in the non-repeating group compared to those who were subsequently abused or neglected, were found on the whole to be healthier at birth and in the first postpartum months. Hunter & Kilstrom concluded that the increased stress associated with having a less healthy infant placed too many demands on some parents and

abuse was the result. If parenting demands were held constant other factors became important, specifically, whether the parent had come to an active resolution of his/her childhood experiences, a similar observation made by Main & Goldwyn (1984) and Fraiberg et al. (1980). In addition, the social resources of the non-repeating families included a more extensive, stronger network on which they could rely when faced with parental demands.

Summarizing the evidence reviewed so far suggests, at the very least, that an intergenerational hypothesis of abuse should be interpreted with caution. The situation is by no means as simple as implied by the statement: if one was abused as a child, one is likely to be an abusing parent. The next section will examine further the validity of an intergenerational transmission of abuse.

#### Caveat II

Given the reasonable theoretical basis and the widespread unqualified acceptance of the cyclical process, one would assume that the intergenerational hypothesis has been well-documented. However, this is not the case. The intergenerational transmission hypothesis has gleaned much of its support from clinical impressions and speculations. Authors not employing empirical evidence presented the argument that a cycle exists because many identified abusing parents in treatment populations have a history of maltreatment in their own childhoods for

example, 94% (Buck, 1984) and 80% (Meier, 1985). This argument has been extrapolated to imply that the abused children are likewise destined to become abusive parents. However, as Cicchetti and Rizley (1981) noted:

Retrospective research could only show what percent of maltreaters were themselves maltreated. It does not enable us to know what percent of children who were maltreated will ultimately maltreat their own children. (p. 40).

Furthermore, Potts and Herzberger (1979) noted that a more critical examination of studies proporting to support the cycle revealed that this support had been overstated. First, they pointed out that many studies frequently cited as finding support for the cycle of abuse did not present concise data as to the proportion of abusive parents who were physically abused as children (e.g., Curtis, 1963; Solomon, 1979). Instead, some researchers used terms such as "some" (Kempe et al., 1962) or "several" (Steele & Pollock, 1968) or quote wide ranges such as, 60-90% (Solomon, 1979) to describe how many of the abusing parents in their samples had been abused as children.

Second, when actual data were presented the magnitude of the association between current parenting status and childhood experiences was often weak. For example, the following figures have been quoted as providing evidence for a cycle: 1) for four out of 34 cases of child abuse the parents had themselves been abused (Silver, Dublin & Lourie, 1969); 2) 14.1% of abusive

mothers and 7.0% of abusive fathers had been victims of abuse as children (Gil, 1970); and 3) 17.6% of those physically punished as teenagers subsequently abused one of their own children as opposed to the 12.5% not physically punished who abused one of their children (Straus, 1978, as reported in Potts & Herzberger, 1979). One wonders about the 82.4% in Straus' study of physically punished parents who did not repeat the cycle. These figures suggest that when many researchers appear to find the same weak association, it is interpreted as meaning that the one factor of background of abuse is strongly associated with abuse as a parent.

In addition, research studies reporting support for a cycle are plagued with methodological problems (Jayaratne, 1977; Plotkin, Azar, Twentyman & Perri, 1981; Potts & Herzberger, 1979). For example, comparison/control groups of nonabusing families were frequently not included in the study (e.g., Curtis,1963; Young, 1964); criteria employed to decide whether an abusing parent was abused as a child and demographic descriptors were often not specified, thus making it difficult to compare studies, interpret results or replicate studies (Plotkin et al., 1981; Potts & Herzberger, 1979); the studies were correlational studies and thus cannot be used to infer causation; and finally, the populations studied were identified, reported samples of abusing parents containing the inherent biases discussed previously. Most importantly, a history of abuse in one's childhood might well result in an increased

likelihood of being reported for suspected abuse, revealing a bias in the "gatekeepers" toward perpetuating the cycle.

Undoubtedly some abusers have been maltreated in their own childhoods, but as discussed, the extent of this occurrence in representative samples employing a prospective design has not been empirically confirmed. Furthermore, to imply that all or even the majority of abused children will become child abusers is to overlook the possibility that some children nonetheless develop adequate coping skills (Cicchetti & Aber, 1980). Thus it seems doubtful that abuse experienced as a child is sufficient, by itself, to explain the occurrence of abuse or neglect as a parent.

A general problem in the study of child abuse is what Houghton (1979, cited in Gelles, 1980) calls the "Woozle Effect" (based on a Winnie the Pooh story). The "Woozle Effect" begins when one investigator reports a finding, which may or may not have qualifications (e.g., small sample size, poor generalizability, selection bias, etc.). Then, a second investigator will cite the original findings, but without the qualifications. Subsequent investigators then continue to cite and extrapolate upon the previous studies, failing to note the qualifications initially identified. The result of the "Woozle Effect" is that the original qualified data gain the status of generalizable "truth". Thus the frequently cited "strong" support for the intergenerational transmission hypothesis has become incorporated as the prevailing zeitgeist.

A further problem in the field of research on child abuse is the tendency to treat abusing parents as a homogeneous group. Acknowledgement of the heterogeneity of the abusing population is a necessary first step to clarify the mechanisms of the cycle hypothesis and etiologies of child abuse. One attempt to construct a psychologically based typology recognized this need (Kent et al, 1983). These researchers identified within their sample four independent clusters of abusing parents. Only one of these clusters involved parents who had themselves been abused as children. The characteristics of these parents most closely matched the description in the literature of typical circumstances of child abuse. Specifically, these parents had a low family income, limited social support, especially from family relatives, a high incidence of drug and alcohol abuse and a high incidence of abuse and neglect in their childhoods. These parents perpetrated the second least severe abusive acts (measured by the degree of injuries inflicted) among the four clusters. Interestingly, the highest percentage of arrests in the total sample for the abusive behaviour was found in the two clusters where the parents had inflicted the lowest severity of abuse. The other cluster involving the least severe injuries included parents with childhood histories of severe discipline. The parental abuse apeared to occur in these families as an expression of a stern, disciplinary style of childrearing. Kent et al. explained the high rate of arrests in this latter group as resulting from the parents' open admission of responsibility for the act. This appeared to be based on the parents feeling

justified in their acts. A possible explanation for the high arrest rate in the other cluster, which included parents with a history of abuse, could be based on the unsophisticated belief by social service workers in the cycle of abuse. Thus, although these parents were not severely abusing their children, they would be considered very high risk because of their childhood experiences. These findings are consistent with those of Hampton and Newberger (1985) who found that severity of abuse was not important in distinguishing reported from unreported cases of suspected abuse. It appears that characteristics other than severity are more likely to result in the tendency to label certain groups as deviant.

Of the remaining two clusters, one included parents who perpetrated the most severe form of abuse, which seemed to be precipitated by an external crisis. The usual indicator's that would typically predict abuse were not present in these families. They appeared to be families who would function adequately within a narrowly prescribed routine but lacked the emotional resources to adapt to changes or increased demands. The fourth cluster included families where the father dominated and was primarily the abuser. The abuse appeared to occur as a result of the father's personal frusrations and feelings of inadequacy.

Kent et al. (1983) concluded that their results (which were only tentative) supported the ecological model in that child abuse could be viewed as the product of an interaction between

psychological and environmental factors with differential weighting of these factors across cases. They stressed that the search for differences between abusive and nonabusive families had obscured important differences among abusers. Concerning the intergenerational transmission of abuse, this study again illustrated the necessity of examining several variables before reaching a conclusion that a parent is likely to abuse because of his/her history.

A prospective research study being conducted at Harvard (Cicchetti & Rizley, 1981) is attempting to identify just which risk factors are implicated in the mechanisms maintaining the intergenerational transmission of child maltreatment. Cicchetti and Rizley (1981) questioned whether different types of maltreatment leave the maltreated child with differing patterns of risk for exhibiting various types of abusive behaviour as a parent or not abusing at all. Their proposed model focused on the concept of risk factors classified into two broad categories: 1) potentiating factors, which increase the probability of maltreatment; and 2) compensatory factors, which decrease the risk of subsequent abuse. Two further subgroupings under each of the two preceding categories are distinguished: transient factors and more enduring factors. Examples of enduring-potentiating factors would be a child with a difficult temperament who would make childrearing difficult and unrewarding, or chronic conditions such as poverty, poor physical environment etc. Cicchetti and Rizley argued that all

categories of risk factors and their transactions over time must be examined in order to understand the multiple etiologies for child maltreatment. They proposed that maltreatment is expressed only when potentiating factors override compensatory ones. Thus, any variable reducing vulnerability or stress, or increasing buffers or protective factors should decrease the probability of maltreatment. Hence, cross-generational transmission operates by either increasing vulnerability or decreasing protective factors. Cicchetti & Rizley are examining the relationship among transactive risk factors (both potentiating and compensatory) in three generations (grandparents, parents and children) for four different groups. Specifically, those who were maltreated as children and either are currently maltreating their own children (transmission parents) or not currently maltreating their children (non transmission parents) and those not maltreated as children who are either currently maltreating as parents (new maltreatment parents) or not maltreating (non-maltreatment parents). An important aspect of this investigation is the attempt to discover factors that consistently appear in those children who, despite their history of maltreatment, are socially, emotionally and cognitively well adapted. Although the researchers are conducting a prospective study, the sample of abusing families involved are families who have been reported for abuse. Consequently, the biases inherent in this sample will limit the generalizability of the findings.

Another prospective study currently underway in Minnesota (Egeland & Sroufe, 1981b) has avoided the drawback of studying an identified sample of abusing parents. The Minnesota Mother-Child Project is a prospective, longitudinal study of 200 infants and their families enrolled during the third trimester of pregnancy and classified at risk for subsequent abuse, neglect and/or poor developmental outcome. Therefore, the sample has not been selected because maltreatment has been detected but because the families were considered at risk for developmental problems. Data have been obtained by direct observation, interviews and questionnaire measures on parent personality, attitudes, expectations, views of child development; newborn status, behaviour and temperament; early mother-infant interaction, later interaction, attachment, parental control and discipline techniques; toddler and preschool play, exploration and problem solving (Egeland et al., 1980; Egeland & Brunnquell, 1979; Egeland & Sroufe, 1981a, 1981b). Those families not subsequently identified as abusive serve as case controls for the maltreating families, thus consequences of maltreatment can be distinguished from those of poverty and membership in a low SES group. Egeland and Sroufe (1981b) outlined the consequences for the child of different kinds of maltreatment, namely, physical abuse, hostile/verbal abuse, psychological unavailability and neglect. The latter three were distinguished as to whether they occurred with or without concomittent physical abuse. The results revealed that even though the different forms of maltreatment had pervasive negative

consequences for most outcome variables (e.g., mother-infant interaction, attachment, play and problem solving), various outcomes were related to particular patterns of maltreatment. One finding was that the outcomes for the infants with psychologically unavailable parents seemed particularly malignant and pervasive. The children in this group showed a declining pattern of functioning with every relevant assessment across the duration of the study. This pattern of maltreatment seemed to have a greater effect than any other form of maltreatment on emotional functioing. The findings for this group are consistent with the theoretical position outlined for the consequence of not being adequately mothered and being subjected to emotional abuse. In addition, Egeland and Sroufe reported that combining physical abuse with psychological unavailability resulted in somewhat less negative outcomes than psychological unavailability alone. A possible explanation prposed was that the contact that occurred in the form of physical abuse was better than no contact at all. Finally, Egeland and Sroufe reported that the pattern of declining functioning observed in all the maltreated groups of children indicated that for their sample environmental factors rather than noxious child characteristics underlay the negative developmental outcomes for these children. These results illustrated the necessity of conducting prospective studies using unreported populations of maltreating families and beginning assessments of child characteristics and parent-child interactions as soon after birth as possible.

In conclusion, there appears, in general, to be theoretical support for the intergenerational transmission of child maltreatment. However, this support must be interpreted cautiously. As Main and Goldwyn (1984) stressed there is still much to learn about the specific mechanism which produces the intergenerational cycle. Furthermore, theoretical support for a cycle should not be interpreted as implying that a background of abuse in one's childhood is predictive of abuse as a parent. Although some individuals are subject to a cyclical pattern of abuse, the available evidence suggested that a history of childhood abuse may be no more predictive of parental abuse than the multitude of other variables discussed in the literature (e.g., high perceived incidence of stress, limited social support, poor self-esteem, etc.) (Potts & Herzberger, 1979). In spite of these qualifications, the cyclical hypothesis continues to enjoy the status of a universally accepted "law" (Potts & Herzberger, 1979).

# Definitions of Abuse

Since child abuse received attention by both practitioners and researchers as a problem to address within families, there has been much controversy over which parental behaviours constitute an abusive act (e.g., Cicchetti & Aber, 1980; Gil, 1970; Kempe & Helfer, 1972; Parke & Collmer, 1975). The focus of this debate has been on defining physical abuse. Parke and Collmer (1975) described two principal approaches to the

definition of physical abuse, which focused on either the outcomes of abuse (injuries) or the perpetrator's intent. A third approach recognized that physical abuse is not a set of behaviours but rather a culturally determined label applied to behaviours as the outcome of a social judgement on the part of the observer (Gelles, 1975). Thus, definitions of abuse must consider the community norms and standards governing behaviour. There tends to be consensus in defining as abusive, acts which result in severe injuries to the child (e.g., skull fractures, brain damage, burns). However, difficulties arise in distinguishing abusive behaviour from the behaviour displayed by parents who use physical punishment. Questions arise as to whether those parents whose intention is not to harm the child but rather to correct behaviour are abusive (e.g., Kent et al., 1983). On the other hand, Gil's (1975) definition of abuse was so broad that it encompassed practically all adult behaviour towards children:

...any act of commission or omission by individuals, institutions or society as a whole and any conditions resulting from such acts or inaction, which deprive children of equal rights and liberties and/or interfere with their optimal development, constitute by definition abusive or neglectful acts or conditions. (p. 347)

Parke and Collmer (1975) argued that the intention of the perpetrator is only one criterion used in deciding whether a behaviour is abusive. In making this judgement, an observer takes into account a variety of factors, for example, the

antecedents of the response, form and intensity of response, frequency, extent of injury, role and status of the agent and victim. They offered the following definition of physical abuse:

... Non-accidental physical injury as a result of acts (or omissions) on the part of parents or guardians that violate the community's standards concerning the treatment of children. (p.525).

In addition, it is imperative to note that physical abuse is not a single phenomenon. That is, there are many types of physical abuse. Furthermore, as Wolfe and Mosk (1983) indicated, physical abuse rarely exists in a "pure" form: some abused children are also physically and emotionally neglected, rejected or cared for in an inconsistent manner.

If there is difficulty in defining what constitutes physically abusive behaviour, the problem is exacerbated in the case of emotional abuse. The lack of success in operationally defining this phenomenon has led to emotional abuse being viewed as an elusive crime (Garbarino & Gilliam, 1980). There is general agreement among involved professionals that emotional abuse does exist and some have even argued that it is the most dangerous form of maltreatment (Kempe & Kempe, 1978). In part this may be due to the pervasiveness of this form of abuse. To elaborate, Herrenkohl, Herrenkohl and Egolf (1983), in their analysis of the circumstances surrounding the occurrence of various kinds of abuse observed that:

physical abuse may occur in isolated instances of parent-child interaction, wherein [sic] emotional abuse and neglect may require numerous instances of occurrence to warrant being reported. From this perspective, there is a certain intuitive sense to the finding that the circumstances eliciting a physically abusive response from a parent are of a short-term nature—a child does something at an instant in time that the parent finds frustrating and enraging. On the other hand, the circumstances surrounding emotional abuse and neglect are of a more chronic nature and reflect a pervasive sense of interpersonal conflict, apathy or irresponsibility (p. 431).

The following behaviours tend to be defined as emotionally abusive, if pervasive and ongoing: put-downs; labeling; humiliation; scapegoating; name-calling; rejection; demanding excessive responsibility; ignoring; using fear-inducing techniques; and having unrealistic expectations (Garbarino & Gilliam, 1980). Thus, emotional abuse is the willful destruction or significant impairment of a child's competence. The term competence is meant to refer to McClelland's (1973) definition that competence typically consists of the following abilities: communication skills; patience; moderate goal setting, and ego development (i.e., feeling confident and secure about one's ability to handle day-to-day challenges). Characteristic of the syndrome of emotional abuse is a systematic rejection of the child (Rohner & Rohner, 1980). Moreover, Herzberger, Potts and Dillon (1981) suggested that, from the child's perspective, seeing abuse as an indication of parental rejection may have more harmful effects than perceiving abuse as being caused by some externally imposed frustration.

Given the problems in operationalizing abuse, it is imperative that researchers specify the definition of maltreatment employed and provide details concerning the characteristics of their sample.

## The Present Study

An important aspect not identified in previous research is that researchers have not recognized that maltreating and nonmaltreating parents may differ on at least two main dimensions simultaneously. One dimension entails their current parenting status (abusive versus nonabusive), while the other entails their childhood history (maltreated versus not maltreated). Childhood experiences are often reported for populations of abusing parents, especially if their backgrounds were abusive. However, the earlier experiences of comparison nonabusive families are not typically specified. It is assumed that the majority of these parents do not have a history of abuse, or that at least, those with a history of abuse would be in the minority. Consequently, differences found among abusing and nonabusing parents on variables such as self-esteem, social support, perceptions of their child, may be attributed not to their categorization as abusive or nonabusive parents, but to whether or not they experienced abuse during their childhoods. Because history of abuse is quoted so frequently as predictive of future parental abuse, researchers need to be vigilant in recording childhood experiences for both their maltreating and

non-maltreating comparision groups. How then do these four groups-- parents with a history of childhood abuse who either do or do not abuse their own children, and those without a history of childhood abuse who either do or do not abuse their own children-- differ on variables previously isolated as related to the etiology of child maltreatment in reported populations (e.g., level of perceived stress, self-esteem, extent of social networks; perceptions of their child)? The present study was designed as a preliminary investigation of this question. In addition, given the design, a statistical test of the intergenerational transmission hypothesis could be computed. Four variables, level of self-esteem, parental perceptions of the degree of difficulty with their child, extent of social supportedness and perceived level of negative stress, were selected on the basis of being implicated in the etiology of abuse, and having been cited consistently to differentiate abusing from nonabusing parents. Furthermore, these variables were selected from several levels of the ecological model (Belsky, 1980; Garbarino, 1977), incorporating an integrated approach for which a multivariate method of analysis could be carried out. The fifth variable, measuring the parents' child abuse potential (Milner & Wimberly, 1979), was included to examine whether the four groups would differ on the level of abuse potential. Of special interest was the degree to which the group of abused-nonabusing mothers would be rated as revealing a potential for abuse. A brief review of the studies employing these variables will now be presented.

Low self-esteem and self concept are frequently identified as descriptive of abusive parents. However, often these references are made more in passing, and are based on investigators' or clinicians' informal observations rather than empirical research studies (e.g., Kempe & Helfer, 1972; Steele & Pollock, 1972). Consequently, self-esteem has rarely been identified empirically as a significant central issue, and yet it is often singled out as a major component in treatment programs (e.g., Buck, 1984; Pollock & Steele, 1972). Schneider, Hoffmeister and Helfer (1976), in their research to develop a predictive screening instrument for early identification of parents at risk for parent-child interaction problems, included a cluster of items measuring self esteem. Although the questionnaire was not found to have overall acceptable predictive power, the self-esteem (I'm No Damn Good) cluster was of particular importance for predicting abuse.

Although there appears to be informal agreement that abusing parents have low self-esteem and feelings of worthlessness, empirical support is not totally conclusive. One difficulty encountered in comparing results of various studies is that many different measures of self-esteem are employed.

Melnick and Hurley (1969) administered the Sense of Personal Worth scale from the Califonia Test of Personality to 10 abusive mothers and 10 control subjects. The abuse group scored

significantly lower than the control group on the Sense of Personal Worth scale (which is a measure of self-worth based on their perceptions of other people's views of them) and on a measure of dissatisfaction with their family situation (i.e., Family Concept Inventory). Evans (1980) replicated this finding in his study of 20 abusive mothers and 20 controls, using a battery of psychological tests that included the Sense of Personal Worth Scale and the Family Concept Inventory.

Shorkey (1980) also found that 14 abusing mothers in his study scored significantly lower than 14 control subjects on the Sense of Personal Worth Scale. However, the two groups did not differ on scores of a measure of self-worth based on the respondents' rating of themselves (i.e., the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale), as opposed to their self-worth based on their perceptions of how people rate them. There are at least two possible explanations for this discrepancy. One explanation might be that abusive parents present a distorted picture of themselves as healthy by responding in socially desirable directions (Wright, 1976). A self-rating of worth may be more susceptible to distortion than a self-rating of worth based on perceptions of other people's views of them. An alternative explanation is that people who are easily labeled as deviant (perhaps because of racism or classism or some other reporting bias factor) would maintain their level of self-esteem as a means of coping with being labeled. Therefore, these individuals may correctly perceive others' perceptions of their worth as low but are able to maintain their self-esteem even when faced with negative judgements of others (C.M. Newberger, personal communication, March 27, 1986).

In a further study, Shorkey & Armendariz (1985) investigated the relative effectiveness of a set of personality measures that individually or in combination potentially differentiated significantly between 18 abusing mothers and 18 control subjects. Their hypothesis was that irrational thinking is a major personality characteristic of abusing mothers and largely accounts for such findings as low self-esteem, hostility and feelings of social isolation. Among the measures administered were the sense of Personal Worth Scale, the Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale and the Rational Behaviour Inventory (RBI), which provided a measure of the rationality of thinking patterns. The results provided support for their hypothesis in " that the RBI was the major variable that significantly differentiated between groups. Univariate tests on all measures revealed significant differences between the groups for all measures except Verbal Hostility, from the Buss-Durkee Hostility Inventory. However, multivariate analyses revealed that when the RBI was entered first none of the subsequent variables were significant; and that only three variables (RBI, Negativism and Anomia) significantly discriminated between the two groups. The two measures of self worth did not discriminate between groups and were only significant at the univariate level. Shorkey and Armendariz concluded that irrational thinking, which reflects

intolerance and demandingness of parents, is a significant variable associated with child abuse. It is also possible that irrational thinking is more reflective of people who get reported for abuse, than a risk factor associated with child abuse per se. That is, "someone with a bruised child who acts intolerant and demanding in the emergency room is more likely to be reported than someone with a bruised child who is respectful and appreciative" (C.M. Newberger, personal communication, March 27, 1986).

Four other studies have found support for the contention that abusing mothers have lower self-esteem. Rosen and Stein (1980) administered the Weedman's Self-Concept Scale to 30 abusing mothers and 30 unmatched control mothers. They found that the abusing mothers scored significantly lower, which indicated a lower self esteem. Oates and Forrest (1985) interviewed 36 mothers whose children had been abused and 36 matched control mothers. The index of self-esteem consisted of asking mothers whether they wanted their children to grow up like themselves, like their partners or like neither person. The abuse group mothers indicated a desire that their children should not grow up to be like themselves or their partners. One wonders why these researchers, having criticised previous investigators for their diverse use of self-esteem instruments, chose to add to the diversity by using their own index instead of employing a previously used test. Mash, Johnston and Kovitz (1983) administered the Parenting Sense of Competence Scale to

abusing and nonabusing mothers. They found that the abusing mothers had significantly lower self-esteem on scales measuring skill, knowledge, value and comfort in parenting.

Finally, Anderson and Lauderdale (1982) administered the Tennessee Self Concept Scale to 111 abusive parents and compared their self concepts to a group drawn from a mental hospital population and to 626 subjects who formed the normative sample. Results revealed that the abusing parents in comparison to the norm group, viewed themselves as being worthless, having poorly integrated personalities and had feelings of confusion and conflict in terms of their basic sense of self. There was, however, less variability between the abusing parents' and the mental hospital patients' level of self-esteem.

In sum, there does appear to be empirical support for the hypothesis that abusing mothers who have been labeled as deviant have lower self-esteem but the issue is by no means clear cut. Ratings of self-esteem based on participants' perceptions of other people's views consistently supported that abusing mothers have lower self-esteem (Evans, 1980; Melnick & Hurley, 1969; Shorkey, 1980). However, results from self-ratings of self-esteem are less consistent, though it is difficult to compare across studies due to the use of different instruments (Anderson & Lauderdale, 1982; Shorkey 1980; Shorkey & Armendariz, 1985). The frequency with which the observation of low self-esteem in abusing mothers is made informally would appear to lend support to the research findings. However,

clearly further research is necessary. The possibility that low self-esteem is the result of being identified and labeled a child abuser is not supported in the one study that examined this possibility (i.e., Schneider et al., 1976). From the results of their predictive screening , they suggested that abusive parents had developed poor self-concepts as a consequence of rejection experienced as children and suggested that low self-esteem may be integrated into the abusing parent's personality from a young age. That this is a possible consequence of being abused as a child is suggested by the finding of significantly lower self-concept on the Piers-Harris Self-Concept Scale in a group of abused children in comparison to a matched group of nonabused children (Oates, Forrest & Peacock, 1985). However, it is not the author's intention to imply that levels of self-esteem remain fixed throughout the life span. It is also proposed that being identified and labeled an abusing parent does potentially have an impact on one's level of self-esteem and feelings of personal worth.

#### Parental Perceptions of the Child

One commonly recognized characteristic of abusing parents is that they hold unrealistic expectations of their children (e.g., Kempe & Kempe, 1978; Melnick & Hurley, 1969; Spinetta & Rigler, 1972) and distorted perceptions of their child's behaviour (e.g., Steele & Pollock, 1968). These are suspected to engender inappropriate parent behaviour, especially in the form of role reversals. Hence, the child is expected to meet the parent's

needs which often are incompatible with the child's own dependent demands (Morris & Gould, 1963; Steele & Pollock, 1968). However, recent, more systematically controlled research studies measuring parental perceptions of their child disclose mixed findings.

Herrenkohl and Herrenkohl (1979) from their interviews with 151 mothers found that the abused children were perceived more negatively than their nonabused siblings. These mothers reported the abused children as being more "difficult", exhibiting more behavioural problems, and emotional difficulties (e.g., excessive eating or refusal to eat, frequent temper tantrums, sleeping problems, head banging and moodiness). The targets of physical abuse also tended to be described by their mothers as having characteristics that reminded them in negative ways of themselves or relatives (e.g., "big-mouth", "clumsy", "two-faced", "bad"). Herrenkohl and Herrenkohl pointed out that their findings did not allow for the distinction between problems that are the result of abuse and those that might have provoked abuse, if indeed these problems did actually exist. That is, the reported problems were ascertained from parental perceptions, and objective assessments of the children's behaviours and personalities were not conducted.

Larrance and Twentyman (1983) and Bauer and Twentyman (1985) both found that abusing mothers in comparison to a group of neglecting mothers or a control group, misattributed negative characteristics to children. In these two studies, the

researchers presented the parents with highly salient child cues (i.e., photographic stimuli and audiotapes of stressful parent-child interactions respectively). The results showed that abusing mothers ascribed more malevolent intentionality to their children than did the other mothers (e.g. "The child did that to annoy me") (Bauer & Twentyman, 1985) and more negative expectations (Larrance & Twentyman, 1983). These latter two investigators reported that the abusing mothers' causal attributions of the children's behaviour varied according to situational factors. Specifically, if the child transgressed, more stable internal attributions were given. On the other hand, if the child was well behaved or successful, then external attributions were given.

In contrast, a similar study (Rosenberg & Reppucci, 1983) did not find significant differences in perceptions of intent and disposition between a group of abusing mothers and a group of mothers "experiencing problems in parenting". These mothers were presented with three written vignettes of a child's behaviour, each with a series of questions concerning the perceived intent of the child's behaviour (e.g., breaking an object of the parents, disobedience). Rosenberg and Reppucci suggested that one explanation as to why they did not obtain significant group differences was because the mothers were not actively involved with their children in a situation that elicited anger. That is, they were more removed, possibly less involved and potentially able to be more "objective". Whether

the degree of parental involvement and saliency of child cues is sufficient to explain the contradictory findings from this study and those by Twentyman and associates, requires further research.

Three further studies exploring the issue of perceptions and expectations of children using questionnaires failed to differentiate abusers from controls on attitudinal/perceptual dimensions. Gaines, Sandgrund, Green and Power (1978) found no overall differences between groups on the factor termed "Expectations of Children" from the Michigan Screening Profile of Parenting. Likewise, Milner and Wimberley (1980) reported that two factors from the Child Abuse Potential Inventory that are related to perceived child behaviour problems and negative concept of the child did not distinguish between abusing parents and nonabusing parents. Starr (1982) administered questionnaires to 87 abusive and 87 control parents and found no group differences on any measure of child perception or discipline choices.

In contrast, two studies employing the Achenbach Child Behaviour Checklist found that abusing parents rated their children as displaying significantly more behaviour problems than did nonabusing parents (Mash, Johnston & Kovitz, 1983; Wolfe & Mosk, 1983). However, when the scores from the abusing parents were compared to scores obtained from parents of distressed families (Wolfe & Mosk, 1983) or from parents of hyperactive children (Mash et al, 1983) no significant

differences were obtained. These results revealed that the perceived behaviour patterns of the abused children in these families resembled perceived behaviour problems displayed by hyperactive children and children from distressed families in general. A very interesting aspect of the study by Mash et al. was the inclusion of direct observations of mother-child interactions in their three groups. They found no significant differences in observed behaviour between the abused children and the nonabused control group children. However, both these groups of children differed significantly from hyperactive children for observed behaviour. Specifically, only the hyperactive children behaved in a way commensurate with their mothers' perceptions of them. In sum, the abusing mothers rated their children as equally problematic as did mothers of hyperactive children, and yet the abused children's behaviour during observations was not found to differ significantly from the children in the nonabused control group. Mash et al. speculated that a possible explanation for their findings was that abused children may differ on more subtle physical, cognitive, behvioural or affective dimensions that were not detected in the global child interaction categories employed.

Two studies that might have shed some light on this speculation only add to the confusion. Burgess and Conger (1978) and George and Main (1979) employed direct observations of behaviour exhibited by abused children compared to nonabused children. Burgess and Conger (1978) found in their observations

of parent-child interactions that abused children exhibited high rates of negative behaviour but that their behaviour did not appear to differ significantly from that of controls. However, George and Main (1979) in their study of children's social interactions in a day care setting found that abused children displayed more negative behaviour than the controls. Specifically, the abused children more frequently assaulted their peers physically, harrassed their caregivers verbally and nonverbally and were less likely to approach their caregivers in response to friendly overtures.

Newberger and Cook (1983) investigated whether there were characteristic qualities of parental understanding in a group of maltreating parents compared to a group of nonmaltreating families. Using the measure Parental Awareness, developed by the first author, parental conceptions of their children and of their relationships with their children were analyzed. Newberger and Cook proposed that deeper patterns of understanding underlie parental attitudes and beliefs about the parent-child relationship and the parental role and that the variation in the qualitative understanding of the nature of relationship between parent and child is the focus of Parental Awareness. The scale is divided into 4 levels, reflecting progressively higher cognitive understanding of the parent-child relationship and the parental role. The findings of the comparison of maltreating and nonmaltreating parents' scores on the Parental Awareness measure indicated that the identified abusing/neglecting parents

compared to a matched group of nonabusing parents obtained significantly lower ratings for parental awareness. The authors suggested that the developing maturity of parental awareness may be importantly implicated in parental functioning and dysfunctioning. This study illustrates yet another way of measuring the parent's perception but does not rely purely on the parent's perception of the child but examines more fully the parent-child relationship and the parent's perception of their role. Thus whether differences actually exist in the child are not important and do not cloud the issue of the parent's perceptions.

Finally, Bond and McMahon (1984), although not examining abusive parents' perceptions and their children's behaviour, did obtain tentative support for the association between perceived behaviour problems and observed deviancy in children. Their sample included a group of maritally distressed mothers compared to a control group of non-maritally distressed mothers. The maritally stressed mothers perceived their children (measured by the Parent Attitude Test) as having significantly more behaviour problems and there was a trend for their children to be observed as more deviant.

In sum, the evidence as to whether abusing parents perceived their children more negatively was mixed, although somewhat weighted in favor of this assertion. It appeared that abusing parents had similar negative perceptions of their children to those of parents in highly distressed families (Wolfe & Mosk,

1983). Therefore, negative perceptions of the child would not be predictive of abuse per se. Whether or not abused children differed in their actual behaviour from nonabused children was also not clear. Pearce and Walsh (1984) in their review of characteristics of abused children suggested:

The age of the child, the developmental issue that he or she is facing at that particular age, and the specific pattern of child maltreatment to which he or she has been exposed are variables that may lead to different outcomes, and may explain some of the heterogeneous outcomes in social relationships. (p. 4).

## Social Networks and Social Isolation

The assertion that maltreating families are socially isolated and lack social supports appears to be generally accepted. Networks that are supportive to parents have been associated with adequate child rearing, whereas parental social isolation has been associated with impaired family functioning (e.g., Belsky, 1980; Crittenden, 1985; Cochran & Brassard, 1979; Garbarino, 1977; Salzinger et al., 1983). Kempe (1973) noted that what abusive families lack is a "lifeline", so that during particularly stressful times they have no one to turn to for relief, thereby no means of escape. However, systematic measurement of the characteristics of personal social networks (e.g., size, interconnectedness, diversity of network-membership types, continuity) has, until recently, generally been lacking (Cochran & Brassard, 1979). Families are not simply isolated or supported. Networks should be considered to be fairly dynamic.

Similarly, Salzinger et al. (1983) hypothesized that since severe maltreatment was not socially sanctioned by the extended network (i.e., peers, society, etc.), support for this behaviour was derived from the close network (i.e., relatives), which maintained the maltreatment. Moreover, in abusive families alternative modes of behaviour were not being transmitted from the extended network, which would likely provide information discrepant to that provided by the close network (Belsky, 1980; Garbarino, 1977). Salzinger et al. suggested this was because close networks were composed of individuals holding many of the same values and who were probably constrained by the same restricted network. Results from their study revealed that abusing mothers were more isolated than the control mothers, as they had smaller overall networks, particularly peer networks, and spent less time with people in their networks. In addition,

the abusing mothers were more insulated, suggested by the finding that their subnetworks were less connected to each other. This insularity would separate the abusing mothers' social behaviour at home from their contact with peers. Thus, Salzinger et al. concluded that the abusing mothers' parenting behaviour was more likely to be controlled by the reinforcement contingencies in effect within their immediate families. Hence, as suggested by Cochran and Brassard (1979), it was not just the size of the personal social network which was important to consider, but also the composition of the network and its interconnectedness.

Reasons given for why abusing parents tended to have an absence of support systems draw upon those aspects of personality proposed as characteristic of these parents. For example, isolation frequently resulted from a person's inability or lack of inclination to establish and maintain friendships (Belsky, 1980) because of lack of trust as a consequence of poor attachment when younger, or lack of opportunity while growing up to acquire interpersonal skills necessary for amicable social relations (e.g., George & Main, 1979). Furthermore, limited social support networks were implicated as an outcome in the intergenerational transmission of abuse. In the absence of appropriate adult input, abused children may have developed distorted perceptions of what was appropriate social behaviour (Salzinger, et al., 1983).

Finally, the existence of a strong support network and the skills to use it, has been suggested as a major factor mitigating the possible negative impact of increased stress (Gottlieb, 1980). Thus, an isolated and socially unskilled person is vulnerable to even low levels of stress and particularly vulnerable to high levels of stress (Garbarino & Gilliam, 1980). The involvement of stress in child maltreatment will be examined in more detail in the next section.

#### The Role of Stress

A growing body of literature identifies stress as a prime contributor to child maltreatment (e.g., Gelles, 1973; Gil, 1970; Justine & Duncan, 1976; Kempe & Kempe, 1978; Parke & Collmer, 1975; Straus, 1980). Garbarino (1977) proposed that it is the unmanageability of stress that is the most important factor in the eitiology of abuse. The answer to the question of what causes the unmanageability of stress has been the impetus for considerable research.

Adherents to the social network theory proposed that the unmanageability of stress leading to child abuse was caused by the mismatch between the level of stress experienced and the strength of the parent's social network. Hence researchers have proposed that having good social support explained why the majority of parents who live in highly stressful life situations did not abuse their children (Garbarino, 1977; Gaudin & Pollane, 1983; Howze & Kotch, 1984).

Garbarino's (1977) ecological model, as described earlier, is a framework for examining the complex interactions among parental and child characteristics, intra and extrafamililal stressors and the social and cultural systems that affect families. Whether child abuse occurs is the result of the interaction of life events with predisposing factors grouped into the four categories of the ecological model (i.e., individual, familial, social and cultural). Howze and Kotch (1984) argued that life events per se, even those frequently cited as predisposing to child maltreatment, are not equal to stress, which is an internal, subjective state. Therefore, a given life event may be perceived as stressful by one person but not by another. They went on to propose that personality (e.g., coping skill, self-image, locus of control) and environment intervene between life events and stress. Social support networks are also considered an integral part of how the life events are interpreted and how the individual subsequently responds.

Gaudin and Pollane (1983) found support for their hypothesis that a strong support network mediated the association between stress and abuse. Specifically, mothers living in highly stressful situations were less likely to be abusers when they reported strong supportive networks. The strength of social network supportiveness was measured by the mother's perception of the degree to which the following were available from neighbours, friends and relatives: emotional support, tangible

resources and/or offers of assistance with parenting tasks.

Straus (1980) also asserted that stress will only result in child abuse if certain mediating variables are also present. However, he included more variables as mediators than just the level of supportiveness of the available social network. He arqued that stress itself does not cause child abuse and that violence is only one of the many possible learned responses to stress. Alternative responses included passivity, withdrawal or resignation. Hence Straus theorized that the parents who had the combination of both high stress and the presence of a mediating variable (such as one of those listed below), will have a high rate of child abuse, whereas parents who also experience high stress in the absence of a mediating variable, will not resort to violence. A modified version of the Holmes-Rahe scale to measure stress was administered to 1,146 parents who were also interviewed. Straus examined several factors which might act as mediating variables in high stress situations. The following factors were identified: growing up in a family in which violence was observed, dissatisfaction with the marital relationship, male dominance in the marriage, and isolation from informal social networks which could help resolve or control family problems. Straus stressed that his findings were not indicative of causal direction, which would require a longitudinal study, but were suggestive about the etiology of abuse.

Egeland and associates (Egeland & Brunnquell, 1979; Egeland, Breitenbucher & Rosenberg, 1980) were also interested in identifying the precipitating factors that differentiated mothers under stress who abused or neglected their children from those who did not. They conducted a prospective study (the Minnesota Mother-Child Project) and analyzed life event data (i.e., amount of stress experienced measured by the Life Event Scale developed by Egeland & Deinard as reported in Egeland et al., 1980), along with a variety of parental, child, environmental and interactional measures. The sample of mothers were either identified as abusive or neglectful (combined as one group) or high-risk who provided adequate care. The families were observed and tested at regularly scheduled intervals starting from the last trimester of pregnancy through the first two years of the child's life. Initially, no differences were found in the number of stressful events experienced by the two groups of mothers when the infant was 3 months (Egeland & Brunnquell, 1979). There was, however, a difference in the severity of the experienced stressful life event. For example, participants in either group might be equally likely to indicate an illness occurring in a family member, but for mothers in the abusing/neglectful group the event was judged by the researchers (scored on a three point scale) to be more disruptive. This was based on the illness being judged more severe or the family member involved was a person on whom the participant was dependent (e.g., spouse as opposed to cousin). The mothers were retested when their infants were 12 months of age. At this

testing session, the degree of disruption (i.e., severity) involved was incorporated into the scoring of the Life Event Scale, whereas previously at 3 months only the number of events had been recorded (Egeland et al., 1980). The results of this second study revealed significantly higher life event scores at 12 months for mothers providing inadequate care compared to mothers providing adequate care.

These findings supported the notion that environmental stress is an important factor in the etiology of child abuse and neglect. However, since the majority of stressed mothers did not abuse their children, it is clear that the concept of life event is not the major etiological variable. Thus, as proposed by Straus (1980), other factors mediate the impact of stress. The mothers with high life stress scores who mistreated their children were found to have higher scores on anxiety, aggression, suspiciousness, defensiveness and rigidity and lower scores on succorance. In addition, these mothers were observed to have poorer interaction patterns with their infants and less awareness of the demands and difficulties involved in being a parent. The amount of social support received by the participants was not measured directly. However, the researchers observed that the mothers who maltreated their children responded in hostile and aggressive ways to frustration which tended to annoy and alienate their family and friends. Thus, support and help from others were not sought out or offered as a means of coping with the stressful situation. Furthermore,

Egeland et al proposed that a hostile response to a crisis may actually increase the number of disruptive events in the individual's life. This in turn would lead to increased aggression by these mothers and further mistrust of others.

Justice and Duncan (1976) and Conger, Burgess and Barrett (1979) found evidence that when parents were subjected to rapid life changes as measured by the Holmes & Rahe (1967) Social Readjustment Scale abuse occured. However, these researchers also claimed that for abuse to be an outcome of life crisis other factors must also be present. Conger et al. (1979) suggested that a punitive childhood history was the predisposing factor if the parent was stressed. On the other hand, Justice and Duncan suggested that the abusive parent had to be in a symbiotic relationship with the child (i.e., parent has concerns that their own needs are not going to be met) for abuse to occur in a stressful situation. Furthermore, they proposed that it was the bombardment of change over several months which was a precursor to abuse, not situational stress events (i.e., one-shot events).

The preceding review illustrates, yet again, the complexities involved in identifying whether an abusive incident will occur or not. The concept of stress itself has been the subject of much debate (e.g., Selye, 1966). For example, one issue is whether stress is a property of the situation (such as unemployment, family conflict, getting married or illness) or whether it is a subjective experience (Straus, 1980).

Consequently, many factors have been identified as associated with maltreatment, for example, unemployment (Gil, 1971; Steinmetz & Straus, 1974); large families, especially in which children are closely spaced (Hunter et al., 1978) and household disorganization (Elmer, 1967).

As Belsky (1980) noted, the absolute levels of stress per se might not be so important in the etiology of child maltreatment as the ability of the family to cope. Whichever factors are suggested to enhance the coping mechanism, it appears clear that in order to understand child maltreatment, a multidimensional model is required. This should not be a surprising suggestion given the complexities involved in identifying the determinants of average parenting (Belsky, 1984).

In conclusion, after reviewing empirical studies examining the role of self-esteem, the parent's perceptions of the child, social support networks and stress in the etiology of child maltreatment, the relationship of these variables to child abuse remains unclear. Studying the child abuse literature leaves the impression that parents who abuse their children in comparison to parents who do not abuse do have a lower self-esteem, more negative perceptions and expectations of their child, lack social supports, are socially isolated and live in highly stressful circumstances. And yet the empirical evidence does not support such unqualified statements. The problem may, in part, arise because the examination of child abuse is an area of research where so much is based on clinical report and so little

on empirical investigation. Plotkin et al (1981) in their survey of the literature pertaining to the causative factors of child abuse, found that in 75% of the articles published from 1966 to 1970, the authors presented arguments based on inferences and not on empirical data. Fortunately this appears to be changing. Specifically, from 1976 to 1980, 85% of the articles published presented findings based on empirical data. Unfortunately, however, Plotkin et al also stated that much of the research was methodologically flawed. However, the trend towards examining the phenomenon of child abuse in a more systematic way, employing comparison groups and statistics is encouraging. Thus, researchers and practitioners alike have come to recognize the need for a more sophisticated approach for understanding child maltreatment. Single factors in the etiology of abuse are no longer proposed. On the contrary, researchers are recognizing that parental functioning (both adaptive and maladaptive) is multiply determined (Belsky, 1984). However, studying the various biases operating in labeling parents as abusers requires further recognition. Once parents are labeled does not then automatically categorize them into a homogeneous group. We would not expect to find one or two common characteristics to describe the average parent. Therefore, it is not realistic to hunt for that elusive characterization to categorize abusing parents.

An important issue to consider, both for child abuse research in general and as one focus of this study, involves the impact of having experienced maltreatment in one's own childhood on subsequent parenting behaviour, that is, whether a history of abuse is predictive of parenting difficulties as some researchers have suggested (e.g., Steele & Pollock, 1968). It is hypothesized that the data for the present sample will be consistent with expectations generated by a hypothesis of intergenerational transmission of abuse. This is because the present sample is nonrandom primarily in two ways. First, the two groups of mothers (groups 1 & 3) who were identified as abusing parents, were solicited from a treatment population of abusing parents. It is suggested that this population might not be representative of all parents who abuse their children. That is, there may be a bias to consider the parents in need of treatment if they have a history of maltreatment in their own childhoods, let alone the biases operating in the identification and reporting of parents as abusers as discussed previously. Consequently, a larger proportion of abusing families in a treatment population as compared to maltreating parents in general, would be found to have a history of childhood abuse. Second, the nonabusing mothers were a volunteer sample. This nonrandom sample potentially underrepresented nonabusing mothers with a history of childhood abuse. That is, individuals abused as children may be unwilling to expose themselves to

professionals for a study of parenting. Since the cycle hypothesis appears so widely accepted, these volunteers may well fear exposing themselves to undue scrutiny. In addition, they may not wish to discuss their painful experiences, especially with strangers. In sum, the hypothesized cycle of abuse would not necessarily be predicted if a more representative sample of abusing and nonabusing mothers were tested, especially in a prospective study.

The following set of five hypotheses involves predictions of how the women in the four groups will differ on the five dependent variables, that is, self-esteem, perception of degree of difficulty with their child, amount of social support, level of negative stress and child abuse potential. First, it is hypothesized that the women in the abused-abusing group (group 1) will score the lowest for level of self-esteem, and the women in the nonabused-nonabusing group (group 4) will score the highest. These predictions are derived from the argument that, unless intervention occurs, being abused as a child can result in feelings of low self-esteem. In addition, the social stigma attached to being identified as an abusing parent is expected to have a detrimental effect on the mother's level of self-esteem. Hence, the women in group 1 who have been exposed to both experiences would have the lowest level of self-esteem, while the women in group 4 who have not been exposed to either experience would potentially have the highest level of self-esteem. Based on the review of the literature it is unclear in what direction to predict the scores for the other two groups. On the one hand, if childhood experiences are fundamental in the development of self-esteem, then the women in group 2 (abused nonabusing group) would be expected to exhibit the second lowest level of self-esteem. However, if part of not becoming an abusive parent is "learning to love oneself", then these women would be expected to display the second highest level of self-esteem. Alternatively, since research findings suggested that abusing parents have poor self esteem and if one's level of self-esteem decreases as a result of being identified as an abusing parent, the women in group 3 (nonabused, abusing) would be expected to score the second lowest. On the other hand, if identified abusing parents maintain their level of self-esteem as a way of coping with being labeled deviant, then group 3 would be expected to score second highest. Therefore, it is unclear what will be the level of self-esteem for women in groups 2 and 3 in relation to the level found for women in groups 1 (lowest) and 4 (highest).

For the four remaining hypotheses involving the mothers' perception of their children, social support, stress and child abuse potential, the pattern of results for the four groups is expected to be similar, though slightly different from that hypothesized for level of self-esteem. Specifically, the two groups of abusing mothers are expected to obtain similar scores on all four variables. These scores would be at the more negative end of the 4 scales compared to those of the nonabusing

mothers, who are expected to achieve more positive scores. The two groups of nonabusing mothers are also expected to obtain similar scores to each other.

Therefore, the second hypothesis is that the two groups of abusing mothers are expected to report their children as displaying more behavioural problems. No significant differences are expected between groups 1 and 3 or between groups 2 and 4. This hypothesis is based on the assertion in the literature that abusing parents perceived their children more negatively (e.g., Herrenkohl & Herrenkohl, 1979; Mash et al, 1983: Wolfe & Mosk, 1983). Whether the abused children if observed actually display more problems, in comparison to the nonabused children, is not considered in the present study. The data collected will be the mother's reports of problems and difficulties she experienced with her child.

Third, since parental isolation has been associated with impaired family funtioning (Belsky, 1980), it is hypothesized that the abusing mothers will indicate receiving less support than the nonabusing mothers.

Fourth, the abusing mothers are expected to indicate higher levels of perceived negative stress experienced over the two years preceding data collection. This expectation is suggested from the assertion that perceived high levels of stress place families at risk for child abuse (e.g., Egeland et al, 1980; Straus, 1980). Thus, stress is assumed to be an important factor

in the etiology of child abuse. It should be reiterated that stress per se is not presented as a cause, but that the presence of high stress in combination with other factors has been found characteristic of abusing families.

Finally, on the measure of child abuse potential, the abusing mothers are hypothesized to reveal a significantly higher potential for abuse than the nonabusing mothers. No difference is expected based on the history of childhood abuse dimension. That is, groups 1 and 3 are not expected to differ from each other, nor are groups 2 and 4.

### CHAPTER II

### **METHODOLOGY**

# Subjects

The sixty four women who participated in this study were divided on two variables: history of childhood abuse (yes/no) and current parenting status (abusive/nonabusive), to create 4 categories. These were: 1) abused as a child and abusive as parent; 2) abused as a child and nonabusive as a parent; 3) nonabused as a child and abusive as a parent; and 4) nonabused as a child and nonabusive as a parent. (see Table 1).

TABLE 1
DESIGN OF STUDY

# HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE YES NO ABUSIVE NON ABUSIVE

Classification on the current parenting status dimension as physcially and/or emotionally abusive was made on the basis of the mother attending one of three treatment programs for maltreating parents. All three programs included women who were active or passive abusers and who were physically and/or emotionally abusive. A description of the three programs is given in Appendix A. A total of 24 women from a possible total of 71 in the treatment programs participated: 16 had experienced physical and/or emotional abuse as a child; 8 had not been maltreated as children. Of the 47 women in the three programs who did not participate, 29 refused to participate or could not be contacted at the time of data collection (this is a fairly common occurrence when conducting research with an abusive population since these parents tend to move frequently and/or have unlisted phone numbers or no phone), 7 were deemed to be inappropriate (e.g., mentally handicapped, blind, unable to read English, etc), 4 had been attending the program too long and 7 participated as pretest subjects. For two programs (ACT II and PACT) the procedure for recruiting the participants entailed the researcher visiting the treatment programs and soliciting volunteers directly. The Participant's Information Document (see Appendix B), which described the study, was given to the mothers who were asked to contact the researcher at the phone numbers provided if they were willing to participate. The procedure was slightly different for the third program (Chesterfield House).

At the request of the program personnel, the Information

Document was given to the mothers by the program counsellors,

who described the study and requested any volunteers to either

give their names to the counsellor to be passed onto the

researcher or to contact the researcher directly.

Classification as a nonabusive parent was made on the basis of: 1) not attending a parenting treatment program and,
2) possessing adequate childrearing attitudes which were disclosed during an indepth personal interview which assessed for example, attitudes towards discipline and practice; how the mothers dealt with their anger and frustrations etc. The interview protocol employed appears in Appendix C. None of the women in the nonabusive sample were eliminated on the basis of not possessing adequate childrearing skills.

The 40 nonabusive mothers (19 who had been maltreated in childhood and 21 with no history of abuse) were obtained by two separate selection procedures. The first approach involved recruiting women who had been abused as children but were not currently abusing their own children. The reason for this approach was to ascertain whether a sufficient number of participants who had a background of maltreatment and were not abusing their own children would volunteer to participate (or even existed). Volunteer subjects were solicited in two ways. First, information was disseminated, in the form of short articles or letters to editors, to 12 Greater Vancouver neighbourhood newspapers. Secondly, interviews were given on two

radio programs. Of the 45 women who responded, 13 were included in this study. The other 32 women did not participate, either because their children were too old (n=10); too young (i.e., less than 12 months, n=1); they lived outside the Greater Vancouver area (n=2); they could not be located at the time of data collection (n=15); they decided not to participate after all (n=2); or they were considered to be inappropriate (e.g., their child was deaf, n=2).

The second approach entailed a more general appeal for mothers to participate in a study on parenting. No mention was made of abuse, either as current parenting behaviour or in their childhood backgrounds. A variety of resources were utilized to solicit volunteers: notices in family drop-in centers; referrals from other participants who were either friends/neighbours and/or parents of children who attended the same preschool or parent and tot program as their child; and the participation file for other child development research projects at Simon Fraser University. Of the 75 women who responded, 27 were included in the present study. Of these 27, 6 had been maltreated as children, therefore, combined with the 13 maltreated participants obtained from the first approach described above, the total sample for the abused-nonabusing group was 19. The remaining 21 of the 27 volunteers had not been maltreated as children.

Definitions of History of Abuse:

Classification into the two groups on history of childhood abuse variable was based on the mothers' self report of their recollected childhood experiences. Designation of having experienced emotional abuse as a child was based on the mother's subjective report that she had felt emotionally abused as a child. Since affirmative answers were based on feelings experienced by the mother and not quantifiable behaviours, only a subjective definition was used. The participants were asked if the pervading emotion expressed by their parents was one of active destruction or undermining of the child's self-esteem or self-image and/or negative feelings were expressed toward the child, and/or the child's capabilities and achievements were constantly denigrated. It was stressed that the negative feelings and denigration had to be ongoing, constant and not an intermittent event. All the participants who defined themselves as emotionally abused either spontaneously volunteered that they felt unloved and never able to please their parents, or acknowledged the presence of these feelings when asked. Table 2 illustrates the number of participants who reported being emotionally abused as a child.

TABLE 2
EMOTIONALLY ABUSED AS A CHILD

### HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE

CURRENT PARENTING STATUS		YES	NO	
	ABUSIVE	N=16	N=8	N=24
	NON ABUSIVE	N=19	N=21	N=40
		N=35	N=29	N=64

Designation of having experienced <u>physical</u> abuse as a child was based on both a subjective definition and an objective definition. For the subjective classification of history of physical abuse, the participants were read a definition of physical abuse and were then asked whether they considered themselves to have been physically abused as a child. This definition included physical force used by a parent or guardian which resulted in non-accidental injury to the child. The injuries sustained could range from red marks which remained for at least several hours or bruises to bleeding wounds, cuts, fractures or broken bones. Table 3 presents the division of the 64 subjects into the 4 groups based on using only a subjective definition of physical abuse. (Please note that some of these participants may have been emotionally abused as well.)

TABLE 3
PHYSICALLY ABUSED-SUBJECTIVELY DEFINED

### HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE

CURRENT PARENTING STATUS		YES	NO	
	ABUSIVE	N=11	N=13	N=24
	NON ABUSIVE	N=13	N=27	N=40
, <b>"</b>		N=24	N=40	N=64

If the mother defined herself as having been physically abused then further details were obtained concerning the frequency of the abuse, severity and types of injuries sustained, medical treatment received, and age at onset and termination of the abuse (see Appendix D for the coding protocol).

If the mother denied being physically abused as a child, she was assigned a NO for subjective definition. However, she was then asked to provide detailed information on how she was disciplined/punished as a child and what happened in the family when either parent became angry and/or frustrated. The interview protocol employed appears in Appendix C. If the participant revealed in her responses to the interview that she had been physically punished as a child the coding protocol described in Appendix D was completed. This was to ascertain whether the

events warranted being objectively defined as physical abuse using the guidelines outlined below.

For the objective classification of a history of physical abuse, the mother was classified as physically abused if any one or combination of the following descriptions applied during the participant's childhood. These guidelines were adapted from Gil, (1970).

- 1. If hit on the head by the parent's hand on more than 20 separate occasions which the participant defined as severe.
- If received excessive spankings to the body (i.e., more than 20 occasions) which resulted in soft tissue damage.
- 3. If hit on the head with a hard object on more than two separate occasions, which resulted in a bruise, bump or a cut.
- 4. If beaten with an object (as distinguished from a spanking) on more than five separate occasions. (An object could be the parent's fist.)
- Severe shaking, yanking and being thrown about on more than
   separate occasions.
- 6. Being kicked and/or bitten resulting in soft tissue damage.
- 7. Single attempts at being strangled, suffocated, drowned (with or without loss of consciousness); shot at, stabbed, cut, burnt, poisoned or drugged.

The sample sizes in Table 4 show the number of participants who were objectively classifed as having experienced physical abuse. All of these participants had also experienced emotional abuse

as a child, although this was not part of the definition of being physically abused as a child.

TABLE 4

PHYSICALLY ABUSED-OBJECTIVELY DEFINED

### HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE

CURRENT PARENTING STATUS		YES	NO	
	ABUSIVE	N=9	N=15	N=24
	NON ABUSIVE	N=14	N=26	N=40
		N=23	N=41	N=64

Only three participants were classified differently for the two definitions of physical abuse. Specifically, two women indicated that they felt they had been physically abused, while the researcher ojectively classified them as not being physically abused. Both women had been physically punished as children but their parents' behaviour was not considered sufficiently severe to warrant being defined as abusive. One woman also defined herself as emotionally abused, while the second woman only defined herself as physically abused. Both of these women were in the sample of abusing parents. The third woman indicated that she did not feel that she had been physically abused as a child,

while the researcher objectively classified her as a physically abused child. This woman had also been emotionally abused as a child and she commented that the severe physical punishment and beatings she received were not as significant as feeling unloved and unwanted. This participant was in the nonabusive sample.

In sum, of the 35 women who indicated either being emotionally or physically abused (objective classification only), 23 reported both physical and emotional abuse as children and 12 reported only emotional abuse as a child. As can be seen from Tables 2, 3 & 4, using only a definition of emotional abuse provides the most encompassing classification of experiencing abuse as a child. That is, if only a definition of physical abuse is employed, some participants who had also been subjected to emotional abuse would be categorized as nonabused as a child. In order to avoid this situation, the participant was operationally defined as having a history of abuse in her childhood if she reported either emotional abuse or was classified as objectively physically abused or both. Therefore, the frequencies presented in Table 2 also represent the distribution obtained for the overall operational definition of history of abuse because all participants who were objectively defined as physically abused as a child had been emotionally abused as well.

The demographic characteristics of the women in the 4 separate groups are presented in Appendix E. The average age of the women and their partners was similar across all 4 groups. The overall mean age was 30.89 years for the women and 33.89 years for their partners. The women were all caucasian, primarily specifying their nationality as English Canadian. Several variables revealed differences among the women. Specifically, the abused-abusing mothers were more likely to be divorced or separated and currently single(43.7%), compared to the other 3 groups, especially the nonabused-nonabusing mothers (4.8%). For the majority of abusing mothers (62.5% in each group) the woman's marital status had changed since the birth of the target child. This was the case for only one of the nonabused-nonabusing mothers. These latter two results suggest that group 4 (nonabused - nonabusing) participants were in more stable relationships. This latter point also appears to be supported by the finding that the majority of women in group 4 were either married or living common law with a partner (90.4%) and had been in the relationship for a longer time period than had any of the other three groups.

The abused-nonabusing group contained the highest proportion of employed women (63.2%). In contrast, the abused-abusing group contained the lowest proportion of employed women (12.5%) and the highest proportion collecting welfare (75%). These figures are especially interesting in comparison to the

nonabused-abusing group of women. Only one mother in this group was collecting welfare. Thus, 13 of the 24 mothers in the abusing sample were welfare recipients. That this proportion is even as high as it was might be attributed in part to the fact that 37.5% of the participants in group 1 were attending either of the two intensive treatment programs (ACTII and PACT) and thus, would be unable to be employed during the day.

Consistent with the findings for marital status and employment, the amount of yearly family income revealed group differences. The majority of the women in the abused-abusing group had an income of less than \$10,000 (66.7%), whereas the majority of women in the two nonabusing groups had a family income of more than \$31,000 (group 2, 63.1%; group 4, 66.5%).

As is apparent from other studies involving abusing and nonabusing families, variables concerning employment and income tend to differentiate the groups, even if both abusing and nonabusing families are preselected for lower socioeconomic status (e.g., Gaudin & Pollane, 1983). One difficulty which results from these differences is in evaluating the status of these variables as the cause of child maltreatment or the result of having been identified as an abusing parent (e.g., Pelton, 1978).

The participants' level of education also varied across the four groups. Specifically, the majority of women in the abused-abusing group had completed less than grade 12 (56.2%),

whereas the women in the nonabused-abusing group either had grade 12, were high school graduates (50%) or had received some university or college education (37.5%), though none had received a university degree. In constrast, the women in the two nonabusing groups had received at least some university or college education (57.9% group 2; 47.6% group 4). Likewise, the partners' level of education differed across the four groups. For the abusing sample, the majority of partners either completed less than grade 12 or completed grade 12 and/or were high school graduates (71.4% group 1; 80% group 3). The majority of partners in the nonabusing groups had received at least some university or college education. The education level of the participants' mothers were similar and mainly involved less than grade 12, grade 12 or being a high school graduate. Group 4 was an exception to this pattern as the education level of the participants' mothers was more likely to be distributed from less than grade 12 to a graduate degree.

The nonabusing mothers were somewhat less geographically mobile than were the abusing mothers. Abused-abusing mothers tended to have lived less than two years in their current residence (87.5%), whereas the majority of women in the two nonabusing groups were more likely to have lived in their current residence for more than two years (group 2: 78.8%; group 4: 61.8%).

The mean number of children per family varied slightly across the groups. The abusing families tended to have slightly

larger families but the difference was not substantial. The average age of the target child was similar for three groups (groups 1,2 & 3), but was younger for group 4. In addition, the women in the two abusing groups were, on average, younger when their target child was born.

# Measures

1. Tennessee Self-Concept Scale (Fitts, 1965).

This scale consisted of 100 items, 90 items were equally divided into positive and negative items and the remaining 10 items comprised a lie scale. All the items were answered on a 5 point scale from 1 (completely false) to 5 (completely true). The items have to be responded to as though describing oneself to oneself. Hence, the scale provided a measure of self-esteem by a self-rating rather than one based on perceptions of other people's views. This aspect of the scale was considered to be advantageous given the potential biases identified in labeling a parent abusive which might lead to distortion in how one is viewed by others. Therefore, by measuring one's own perception of oneself, the effects of potential labeling biases can be reduced. The scale yielded measures of self-concept across 5 general categories: physical self, moral-ethical self, personal self, family self and social self. Each of these areas is in turn divided into statements of self-identity, self-acceptance

and behaviour (providing a 2-dimensional 3x5 scheme). The total positive score for the 90 items comprised a single overall self-esteem score. The possible range for the overall score was from 150 to 450; the range obtained in the present sample was 249 to 422. A score below 315 is below the 10th percentile for level of self-esteem.

The Tennessee Self-Concept Scale was devised in response to the need for a research instrument that might provide an adequate measure of self-concept (Fitts, 1965). The underlying premise of the scale is that self-cocept is a central and critical variable in human behaviour though no theoretical basis was offered by Fitts. The original pool of items was derived from several other self-concept measures and from written self descriptions of patients and non-patients. The final pool of items were those on which 7 clinical psychologists agreed that the items were either positive or negative in content and were judged compatible with the 3x5 scheme indicated above.

The norms given in the manual were based on 626 people aged 12 through 68. The test-retest reliability of the total positive score over 2 weeks was 0.92, with test-retest of the various subscores ranging between 0.70 to 0.90. Discriminant validity was assessed on the basis that groups which differ on certain psychological dimensions should also differ in self-concept. Therefore, the scale should be able to differentiate such groups as delinquents and non-delinquents, psychiatric patients and non-patients and so on. Results indicated that the scale

significantly (mostly at the 0.001 level) differentiated psychiatric patients and non-patients and differentiated type of disorder within the patient group. The scale has also been found to relate to clinical indices of psychological "health", which indicated good predictive validity. Finally, convergent validity was demonstrated when the scale correlated with the Taylor manifest anxiety scale (correlation -0.70) and correlated with other self-esteem inventories. In addition, the scale correlated in expected directions with scores on the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (range from -0.64 to -0.17 with most MMPI subscores and the TSCS total positive score) and other personality measures. For a review of measurement of self-esteem and the Tennessee Self-Concept Scale see Crandall, 1973.

Apart from the abundant literature attesting to the reliability and validity of the scale (Fitts, 1972) and the advantage discussed previously that the scale assessed self-esteem by a self-rating, a practical reason for administering this scale was its readability. That is, because some of the participants had low levels of education it was considered important to select a scale which was fairly easy to understand.

2. Parent Attitude Test (PAT) (Cowen, Huser, Beach & Rappaport, 1970).

The PAT was designed by Cowen et al. (1970) to provide a tehnique for early identification of emotional dysfunction in primary grade school children. It was not designed to assess parental attitudes to childrearing nor attitudes toward the family unit. The test consisted of three separate scales. The Behaviour Rating Scale consisted of 23 statements of deviant behaviours rated on 4-point scales concerning the degree to which the characteristic applied to the child, from 1 (very mildly) to 4 (very strongly). The Home Attitudes Scale consisted of seven items rated on 5-point scales. The items focused on the parents' perception of the child and his/her adjustment. The third scale, the Adjective Checklist, consisted of a list of 33 positive and negative adjectives. The parent rated each adjective on a 3-point scale according to the degree to which it described the child. Selection of the items was not described by Cowen et al. The individual scale scores, obtained by summing the scores for each item within the scale, were summed with equal weight attached to each scale to provide an overall parent attitude score. This score could range from 0 to 186; the range obtained for the present sample was 3 to 117.

The scale was initially tested with 393 upper to lower-middle class parents of first to third grade children.

Thus no general population norms were available and no cutting

points for dysfunction were provided. When readministered to 272 parents, the test-retest reliability after 6 months ranged from 0.57 (School Attitudes Scale, not administered in the present study) to 0.72 (Adjective Checklist). Internal consistency for the Behavior Rating Scale was reported as 0.83 using Cronbach's alpha. Crterion validity was obtained against an array of criteria including achievement measures, self-report and sociometric measures and clinician and teacher ratings. The results indicated that the validity for girls was generally good, ranging from 0.69 to 0.70. Whereas the validity for boys was more variable, ranging from 0.16 for the correlation between the Home Attitudes Scale and one measure of maladjustment by a teacher and 0.61 between the same teacher rating scale and the School Attitudes Scale. Cowen et al. (1970) concluded that the discrepancy in the scores between parents and teachers might be explained by the possibility that what was acceptable behaviour for boys at home may not have been acceptable in school and vice versa. The girls' behaviour appeared to have been rated consistently in both environments . For a review of parent report measures of child behaviour including the PAT, see Humphreys and Ciminero (1979).

3. Social Network Questionnaire. (Tietjen & Bradley, 1985).

The Social Network Questionnaire is an instrument designed for assessing social network characteristics and amount of perceived support offered from network members. Respondents are required to name up to twenty people who are most important to them

personally and then to answer questions about demographic characteristics of each person named and the type of support and frequency of contact with each. Frequency choices range from "at least once a week" to "not at all during the past month". The type of support focused on six areas: social/recreational contact, information on childrearing, information on resources, help with household tasks, help with babysitting and emotional support.

Several different scales could be calculated from the information collected. For the purposes of this study, network supportiveness was calculated by summing the frequency of support ratings over all six categories of support for all members recorded. No reliability or validity data were available for this measure.

4. Life Experiences Survey (Sarason, Johnson & Siegel, 1978).

This survey is a measure of the impact of life changes which allows for separate assessment of positive and negative (i.e., desirable and undesirable) life experiences and individualized ratings of the impact of events. The survey consisted of 52 items involving life events, rated on a 7-point scale based on the degree of impact and whether it was a negative experience or a positive one (scale from -3, extremely negative to +3 extremely positive). The event was coded if it had occurred up to 2 years previously. A negative change score for the total amount of negative experiences indicated was calculated by

summing the negative weights for each item rated from -3 to -1. The potential range for this scale is 0 to 165; the range obtained for the present sample was 2 to 60.

The scale was developed with the underlying notion that life stress could be operationally defined in terms of self-reported life changes and conceptualized primarily in terms of events that exert negative impacts. The items were largely selected from existing life stress measures. All items reflected events which occur frequently and which might potentially exert a significant impact. The scale was initially administered to 345 university students, the means and standard deviations of this sample were provided by Sarason et al. (1978). The positive and negative life change scores for this sample were uncorrelated. Test-retest reliability after 5-6 weeks was measured in two studies, one with 34 students the other with 58 students. The correlations for the positive change score were 0.19 and 0.53 (repectively), 0.56 and 0.88 for the negative change score and 0.63 and 0.64 for the total change score. Sarason et al. concluded that the measure was moderately reliable especially for the negative and total change scores. They specified that test-retest reliability was likely to be an underestimate since during the time interval between testing respondents could actually experience relevant life events which would change their score. Therefore, changes could reflect actual occurrence of life changes rather than simply inconsistencies and error. Thus, they concluded that the lower reliability estimates

obtained with the positive change score may be due in part, to the greater likelihood of positive change occurring between testings.

Sarason et al. (1978) further reported that the negative change score was significantly related to a number of stress-related dependent measures, for example, anxiety, depression and personal maladjusment. In addition, the scale appeared to be relatively unaffected by social desirability biases and was capable of differentiating college students who had sought help for adjustment problems from those who had not.

5. Child Abuse Potential Inventory (CAPI) (Milner & Wimberley, 1979).

The CAPI was designed to provide a quick, client-administered screening devise for assessing a respondent's child abuse potential. The items selected for the inventory were based on the personality traits that research and theory suggested were characteristic of abusive and negligent individuals. Included as being a characteristic trait area was the existence of negative childhood experiences including abuse and neglect. Thus, Milner when developing the inventory, appeared to assume the existence of the cycle hypothesis and so give weight to items indicating abuse and/or neglect in a person's childhood. The preliminary CAPI consisted of 334 items and was administered to 19 abusing and 19 matched nonabusing parents (Milner & Wimberley, 1979). The inventory was found to

provide 100 percent correct classification of abusers and nonabusers. In a second validity study (Milner & Wimberley, 1980) the revised form of the CAPI was administered to 65 abusing and 66 matched nonabusing parents. The results of a discriminant analysis indicated that the inventory correctly classified 96 percent of the respondents. Test-retest reliability coefficients were found to be 0.94 for a one-day period and 0.90 for a one-week period (Milner, 1980). Internal consistency, obtained by using a split-half technique, was reported to range from 0.92 to 0.96 for various groups (Milner, 1980). The norms provided in the manual were obtained on a sample of 132 parents, primarily obtained from parent-teacher organizations in North Carolina. The mean and standard deviations were provided for this sample but no cut-off points were suggested. Milner cautioned that the CAPI was still being developed and should, therefore, not be used for labeling individuals in a diagnostic manner but could be employed appropriately where cut-off scores and labeling of individuals were not critical.

The CAPI consisted of 160 items scored as either agree or disagree. Two scales were obtained from the CAPI. One is the Abuse Scale which consisted of 77 items with weighted scores which when summed provided a measure of an individual's potential for child abuse. The possible range for this scale is 0 to 486; the range obtained was 7 to 418. The other is the Lie Scale which consisted of 18 items with no weights, which are

summed to provide a single score. The scores on the Lie scale did not differ for the four groups and were within the normal range.

# 6. Background Information. (see Appendix F)

This instrument was designed by the researcher to collect information on demographic characteristics of the participants. Specifically, the respondents were required to provide information on their age; marital status; partner's age (if applicable); level of education; partner's level of education; number, sex and age of children; work history; parental education and work history; and income.

# Procedures

Each participant was visited twice in her home. During the initial interview, the project was described, consent for participation was obtained and the questionnaires were explained. At this time, the majority of participants were not directly alerted to the researcher's interest in any abusive experiences. The exceptions were the 13 women who had volunteered in the first phase of solicitation (see section on Subjects). Participants were informed that the study was an investigation of parenting patterns and how they are passed from generation to generation. Although participants were not directly informed that the focus of the study was abuse, an ethical dilemma had to

be faced involving the issue of guaranteeing participant confidentiality. This is not an uncommon dilemma in this area of research, as many Provinces in Canada and States in the U.S. have mandatory reporting laws for suspected and actual cases of child abuse. Thus, it would have been necessary to break the code of confidentiality had a case arisen which led the researcher to suspect the occurrence of child abuse in a family. There was no need to report those cases in the abusing sample as these families were already known to the authorities. The necessity of reporting a case and thus breaching confidentiality was clearly specified in the consent form that the participant was required to sign (see Appendix G). Furthermore, it was stated in the form that the participant would be informed of the researcher's suspicions. Although this limit was placed on the quarantee of confidentiality, the desirability of maintaining confidentiality was recognized. To ensure confidentiality each participant was assigned a code number, with the only record of the participant's identity being kept by the researcher. Confidentiality was also ensured by refusing to release information obtained, unless at the request of the participant. This was especially important for all those participants attending a treatment program.

In addition, during the initial interview all 6 questionnaires previously described in the measures section were explained in detail. These were left for the participant to complete in her own time, though it was requested that they be

completed within two weeks if possible. The participant was asked to answer the questionnaires with one child in mind if they had more than one, specifically, the child under ten years of age and older than 18 months with whom they had had most difficulty (labelled the Target Child). The second visit occurred when the questionnaires were completed.

During the second visit, the participant's responses on each of the 6 questionnaires were discussed. This was to ensure that the participants had understood all aspects of the questionnaire and responded appropriately, and to clarrify any apparantly confusing and/or conflicting answers. In addition, at this visit a structured interview was conducted (see Appendix C for the interview protocol). The purpose of the interview was to obtain information on the participant's own upbringing and on how she parented her own child or children. Details were collected on whether the participant viewed herself as having been abused (physically and/or emotionally) (see Appendix D for the coding protocol); how she had been disciplined/punished as a child and how she disciplined/punished her own child; how her parents dealt with their anger and how she dealt with her anger; whether her siblings had been abused and whether there had been one single important person in her life during her childhood, adolescence and/or early adulthood.

Considering the emotional nature of the material discussed for many participants, care was taken not to leave them in a state of distress, and referral information to appropriate

support groups was often provided. Each participant was offered a token sum of \$5.00.

### CHAPTER III

## RESULTS

This study was conducted to explore the validity of an intergenerational hypothesis of physical and emotional child abuse. In addition, the existence of differences on five dependent variables among four groups of mothers was tested (see Table 2 for the design and sample distribution). The five dependent variables were level of self-esteem, degree of perceived behavioural problems with the target child, frequency of social support received, perceived level of negative stress experienced over the two previous years, and the potential for child abuse. The results of several analyses will be presented in the order outlined above.

# The cycle of abuse

In order to assess the likelihood of an intergenerational transmission of child abuse, chi square analyses were computed for 51 of the 64 participants. The 13 women who volunteered in response to the initial appeal which specified an abused history and a nonabusing parenting style were not included in these analyses. The chi square analyses enabled an assessment of whether the proportion of those mothers with a history of childhood abuse was the same in the abusing sample as in the nonabusing sample. This would be the case if a hypothesis for the intergenerational transmission of child abuse was rejected.

However, because the the sample studied was nonrandom, it was hypothesized that there would be evidence of an intergenerational transmission of abuse.

Since different definitions of history of abuse (i.e., subjective emotionally abused; subjective physically abused; and objective physically abused) were employed, the cycle hypothesis was tested in several different ways. Specifically, using a definition of emotional abuse only; using a subjective definition of physical abuse only and using an objective definition of physical abuse only. The frequencies for each of these chi square analyses are shown in Tables 5, 6 and 7 respectively. Using these three definitions of history of abuse the results of the chi square analyses revealed that the observed cell frequencies were significantly different from the expected frequencies (for emotional abuse,  $\chi^2$  =10.24, p<0.01; for subjective physical abuse,  $\chi^2$  =12.52, p<0.01; for objective physical abuse,  $\chi^2$  =6.79, p<0.01 ). Thus, these findings were consistent with predictions generated from a hypothesized cycle of abuse. Specifically, a significantly higher proportion of women with a history of abuse were in the abusing sample than in the nonabusing sample. The chi square analysis using the overall operational definition of abused as a child (i.e., emotionally abused and/or physically (objective) abused) would be equivalent to the analysis computed using the definition of emotionally abused only because the cell frequencies are equivalent.

TABLE 5

SAMPLE FREQUENCIES FOR CHI SQUARE ANALYSIS-EMOTIONALLY ABUSED

# HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE

CURRENT PARENTING STATUS	· !	YES	NO	
	ABUSIVE	N=16	N=8	N=24
	NON ABUSIVE	N=6	N=21	N=27
		N=22	N=29	N=51 ·

 $\chi^2 = 10.24$ , p<0.01

TABLE 6

SAMPLE FREQUENCIES FOR CHI SQUARE ANALYSIS - PHYSICALLY ABUSED SUBJECTIVE

# HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE

CURRENT PARENTING STATUS		YES	NO	
	ABUSIVE	N=11	N=13	N=24
	NON ABUSIVE	N=1	N=26	N=27
		N=12	N=39	N=51

 $\chi^2 = 12.52$ , p<0.01

TABLE 7

SAMPLE FREQUENCIES FOR CHI SQUARE ANALYSIS-PHYSICALLY ABUSED
OBJECTIVE

10	HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE				
CURRENT PARENTING STATUS		YES		NO	
	ABUSIVE	<b>N</b> =9		N=15	N=24
	NON ABUSIVE	N=2		N=25	N=27
		N= 1 1		N=40	N=51

 $\chi^2 = 6.79$ , p<0.01

# Correlates of Abuse

The definition of history of abuse employed for all further analyses included all those participants who reported being emotionally abused and/or those who were objectively classified as physically abused. One participant who indicated being physically abused (subjective) but not emotionally abused and who was not objectively classified as physically abused, was placed in the nonabused column. For all further analyses the 13 women previously excluded for the chi square analyses were included. These 13 participants in comparison to the other 6 abused-nonabusing participants who were obtained from the general sample of nonabusing parents (i.e., those who responded

to the appeal for mothers to participate in a study on parenting), were not found to differ significantly from each other on the dependent variables. The group of 13 women were more likely than the group of 6 women, to report being both physically and emotionally abused as children. In the sample of 6 nonabusive parents with a history of abuse, all participants had been emotionally abused and two participants had also been physically abused (objectively defined) as a child. In sum, the total sample consisted of 64 mothers assigned to 4 groups. The frequencies for each group are shown in Table 2.

As discussed previously in the chapter on methodology, the demographic data presented in Appendix E revealed that there were substantial group differences on a number of variables. Since, these demographic group differences must be taken into account in order to identify the effect of the independent variables, History and Status, a multivariate analysis of covariance (MANOCVA) and univariate analyses of covariance (ANOCVAs) were computed. However, the model of covariance was found to be inappropriate. Specifically, the basic assumption of the model that regression coefficients within each group be homogeneous was severely violated. Since the violation was not merely technical but was beyond the limits of what could usually be tolerated, the analysis of covariance was abandoned.

Consequently, because of the differences in sample characteristics, three demographic variables, employment, education and income were utilized in the factorial design as

grouping variables. Thus the design for the analyses of variance was a 5-way factorial with History, Status, Employment, Income and Education as independent variables and CAPI, Self-Esteem, PAT, Stress, and Social Support as the five dependent variables.

A MANOVA was attempted in order to analyse the five dependent variables simultaneously, but the computer program accessed was unable to handle the required computation. 

Therefore, to guard against increasing Type I error when the five univariate ANOVAs were computed, the Bonferroni correction to evaluate planned comparisons was applied (Myers, 1979). Using this correction a probability level of p<0.003 was required to be considered significant. This value was obtained by dividing the standard level of significance of 0.05 by the number of planned comparisons, which was 15 (i.e., 5 dependent variables compared on History, Status and History x Status interaction).

The results of the five ANOVAs are presented in Appendix H. Applying the Bonferroni correction resulted in a significant main effect for History for the CAPI (child abuse potential), F(1,43)=10.30, p<0.0025 and for Self-Esteem, F(1,43)=9.36, p<0.0038. In addition, the Status x Education interaction obtained for PAT (parents' perception of difficulties with their children), F(1,43)=8.12, p<0.006, was considered to be of

<sup>&#</sup>x27;The BMDP4V MANOVA program was used with the BFORM option (Dixon, 1983). This option was introduced in order to exclude some of the interactions which would have been generated by the model. These interactions were not necessary for interpretation and furthermore, there would not have been a sufficient number of cases in each cell.

sufficient interest to warrant further examination even though it did not quite meet the p<0.003 level of significance. No other effects attained the required level of significance.

These results revealed that mothers with a history of abuse as compared to mothers with no history, had a significantly higher purported potential for abuse and significantly lower self-esteem. The coefficients for the estimated effects for these two variables for each of the four groups are presented in Tables 8 and 9 respectively. The coefficients for the estimated effects for the Status x Education interaction on the variable PAT (Table 10) illustrate that the abusing mothers with low education and the nonabusing mothers with high education perceived their target children as <a href="Less">Less</a> difficult than the abusing mothers with high education with low education. However, the post hoc test of significance (Scheffé) did not reveal significant differences among the groups, which indicates that the significant interaction was obtained by Type I error and is not interpretable.

<b>70</b>		HISTORY OF CHIL	LDHOOD ABUSE
ATUS		YES	NO
CURRENT TING ST	ABUSIVE	249.07	96.43
C PARENT	NON ABUSIVE	146.87	49.75

TABLE 9
ESTIMATED EFFECTS FOR THE FOUR GROUPS FOR SELF-ESTEEM

# HISTORY OF CHILDHOOD ABUSE YES NO ABUSIVE 296.75 365.79 NON ABUSIVE 317.19 333.19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>The numbers presented in Tables 8, 9 and 10 represent the effects for CAPI, Self-Esteem and PAT after the four groups have been equated on the three grouping variables, Employment, Income and Education, achieved in the 5-way analyses of variance by dummy coding. These numbers should be interpreted similarly to adjusted means in an analysis of covariance.

TABLE 10
ESTIMATED EFFECTS FOR PAT-- STATUS x EDUCATION INTERACTION

ns	SDUCATION				
ľ		LOW	HIGH		
CURRENT FING S'	ABUSIVE	47.25	68.55		
C PARENT	NON ABUSIVE	80.63	47.53		

### CHAPTER IV

### DISCUSSION

The hypothesis of an intergenerational transmission of child maltreatment specifies that abusive patterns of parenting are passed on from generation to generation. Therefore, it follows that being physically and/or emotionally abused as a child makes it likely that the individual will continue the familial pattern and so become an abusing parent. A major argument presented in this paper is that the hypothesized cycle of abuse, as currently asserted, is overly simplistic. Notwithstanding this position, the data of the present study were expected to be consistent with a prediction generated by the cycle hypothesis, that is, that a significantly greater proportion of women with a history of childhood abuse would be found in the sample of abusing parents than in the sample of nonabusing parents. The results from the chi square analyses, utilizing the three separate definitions of history of abuse, indicated that the cycle hypothesis was supported for this sample. However, it is likely that this sample was nonrandom in two important ways which may have biased the results in favour of the cycle hypothesis. First, abusive mothers were sampled from treatment programs. Thus, these abusive mothers would have been processed through three levels of potential bias as outlined by Gelles (1975). That is, various biases could have been operating when these mothers were identified as abusers, reported and/or referred for treatment. Therefore, if abusive parents with a history of abuse

are more likely to be referred to a treatment program than abusive parents without a history of abuse, sampling from treatment programs would overrepresent the abused-abusive group. Second, nonabusive mothers volunteered for a study of parenting. It is probable that such a volunteer sample underrepresents the proportion of nonabusive parents with a history of abuse. It is important to note that the transmission of abuse from generation to generation is not in question, for some families. Sufficient evidence has been documented that these families exist (Buck, 1984). However, the evidence of a cycle for some families should not be taken as evidence that the cycle is applicable for all or even the majority of families. As Kent et al (1983) documented in their typological study of abusing parents, an intergenerational transmission of abuse was identified for only one out of the four clusters used to describe the families.

In addition, the possibility that reliance on retrospective data biased the findings in favour of the hypothesised cycle cannot be overlooked. In particular, mothers who were in treatment programs for abusing their own children may have been more likely to reinterpret their childhood experiences as abusive. That is, a participant may have considered being abused as a child an excuse for why she subsequently abused her own child (i.e., by accepting the cycle hypothesis, she may justify that becoming an abusive parent was beyond her control). It is not proposed that this reinterpretation necessarily occurred for all participants. However, if distortion did occur, it would

introduce another source of bias with respect to testing the hypothesis.

Furthermore, the frequencies presented in Tables 6 and 7 revealed that for both measures of history of physical abuse, more abusive parents had <u>not</u> been abused than had been abused. It is possible that the abusing parents were either less likely to have been physically abused than emotionally abused and/or they were justifying the physical abuse they experienced as physical punishment which had been deserved. On the other hand, the abusing mothers reported more emotional abuse as children than no emotional abuse. It would seem to be harder to justify as deserved feelings of being unloved and rejected, and it is possible that feeling emotionally abused may be less susceptible to retrospective distortion.

In sum, since the proposed hypothesis was not rejected, it is not possible to conclude from the present study that the intergenerational transmission hypothesis is untenable. In order to conduct a definitive test of the hypothesis, a prospective study is required. Several researchers have recently recognized this need and have initiated appropriate longitudinal studies (e.g., Cicchetti & Rizley, 1981; Egeland & Sroufe, 1981b; Hunter & Kilstrom, 1979). However, these studies take a long time. Therefore, the issue of whether an intergenerational transmission of child maltreatment is applicable must remain unanswered for several more years. In the meantime, researchers and practitioners are urged to adopt a cautious stance toward

unequivocal acceptance of the existence of a cycle. As proposed by Belsky (1980) and Garbarino (1977) in their ecological models of the etiology of child abuse, several factors may interact to produce an abusive incident. Therefore, it is argued that, even if the findings of the prospective studies support the existence of intergenerational continuity as one factor explaining child maltreatment, interpreting a history of childhood abuse as predictive of subsequent parental behaviour is too simple an approach. The position of isolating one single factor as all important in the etiology of child abuse constitutes an injustice to those individuals who do not repeat the cycle of abuse but become effective parents. Furthermore, such a focus on a single variable is scientifically inaccurate.

The remaining five hypotheses addressed the expected pattern of results for the four groups of mothers on each of the five dependent variables. On the whole, four hypotheses specified that the participants' current parenting status was expected to significantly differentiate the abusive from the nonabusive mothers. Specifically, it was hypothesized that mothers, with or without a history of abuse who abused their children would report more perceived difficulties with their children, higher levels of negative stress, less social support and higher potentials for child abuse. The prediction for the fifth variable, self-esteem, was more complex, since an interaction between status and history was hypothesized. Specifically, women in group 1 (abused-abusing) were hypothesized to have the lowest

self-esteem and women in group 4 (nonabused-nonabusing) the highest. The prediction concerning the level of self-esteem for women in groups 2 and 3 was unclear. It was suggested that the outcome was dependent on whether being abused as a child or identification as an abusing parent had the greater impact on self-esteem.

In sum, the results indicated that, with the exception of self-esteem, the four other hypotheses concerning PAT, CAPI, Stress and Social Support were rejected. Partial support was obtained for the predicted direction for self-esteem. The results and implications for the five hypotheses concerning the correlates of abuse studied will now be discussed in more detail.

First, the significant main effect for History obtained for self-esteem revealed that the women who had been abused as children (group 1 & 2) reported significantly lower self-esteem compared to women who had not been abused as children (groups 3 & 4). The value of the estimated effects presented in Table 9 indicate that women in group 1 (abused-abusing) reported the lowest level of self-esteem, then women in group 2 (abused-nonabusing), then women in group 4 (nonabused-nonabusing) with the highest level of self-esteem reported by women in group 3 (nonabused-abusing). The History x Status interaction was not significant (p<0.06), thus it is not correct to test whether these differences among the four groups were significant. Albeit, the obtained pattern of findings closely resembled the

hypothesized pattern. The women in group 3 were the exception. On the one hand, they were not expected to report the highest level of self-esteem since it was anticipated that the social stigma associated with being labeled an abusing parent would have some detrimental impact on level of self-esteem.

Alternatively, it was suggested that identified abusing parents might maintain their level of self-esteem as a way of coping with being labeled deviant. This latter explanation might well account for the results obtained for group 3 but would not account for the low self-esteem scores reported by the women in group 1 who had also been labeled as deviant.

It would appear that the impact of childhood abuse has the same directional effect in both abusing and nonabusing families with the greater difference shown between the two groups of women who abused their children. The possibility that childhood experiences have a greater effect in abusing families can only be suggested from the present findings because the History x Status interaction was not significant.

The implication of the significant main effect for history is that childhood experiences are more influencial in the development of self-esteem than adult experiences (contrary to what was concluded from the ealier review of the literature examining self-esteem). This position is compatible with Epstein's (1973) personality theory and Bowlby's (1969) theory of attachment which argue that self-esteem is largely a function of childhood relationships with parents. However, for those

participants with a history of abuse, the women in group 2 (abused -nonabusing) although also reporting low self-esteem, had higher self esteem than the women in group 1 (abused abusing). Does this difference in self-esteem explain why the women in group 2 do not inflict the same pain on their children as was inflicted on them? Alternatively, do the women in group 2 have slightly higher self-esteem than the women in group 1 because they do not abuse their children and they appreciate that they are not perpetuating a familial pattern? The results of the present study cannot answer these two questions. However, speculation would suggest that an increase in self-esteem was not sufficient in and of itself for the mothers not to abuse their children. This speculation is based on the finding that the women in group 3 who were abusing their children obtained the highest self-esteem scores. Ricks (1985) interpreted Epstein's theory and suggested that although a mother may consciously wish not to treat her children as she was treated, it is difficult to act on this wish unless underlying representational models of self and others are altered through experience. Therefore, Ricks would appear to be arguing that changes in self-esteem would be necessary for intergenerational discontinuity to occur. On the other hand, Main and Goldwyn (1984) and Fraiberg et al (1980) appeared to be proposing that what may be important in not continuing the familial pattern of abuse is remembering what it felt like to be abused. It is probably easier to be an effective parent if one has a good self-esteem, but it does not appear to be necessary or

sufficient in order to be a nonabusing parent.

When the nineteen abused-nonabusing women (group 2) were asked directly why were they not abusing their children, their responses could be categorized into four groups. One group (n=11) was distinguished by the women reporting making a conscious decision, either in childhood or adulthood, not to treat their children the same way they had been treated as children. Whether their underlying representational models of self were also altered, as was suggested necessary by Ricks (1985), was not assessed in this study. However, what was impressive with this group was the determination with which they expressed their decision. The second group (n=5) were distiguished by their report that they could remember the pain they had felt as children and that they did not wish to inflict the same pain on their children. This group would seem to be most compatible with the explanation given by Fraiberg et al. (1980) concerning the crucial element involved in not repeating . the familial pattern of abuse, namely, remembering the pain. The third "group" consisted of one participant who responded that because she was abused by a schizophrenic father, she could keep the abuse separate from her own identity. She realised that she was not abused because she was bad in some way, but because her father was "sick". The responses of the remaining two participants appeared to identify these women as high risk for potential abuse although they were not considered to be abusive at the time they were interviewed. Specifically, they lacked

support (both did not have family in the lower mainland, few friends were indicated on the social support network questionnaire, and although one was married, the marriage was not stable), they appeared to have few interests other than their children (an only child in both cases) and their reason for not abusing their children was because they loved them. In both cases, the participants rated their children as very good babies. A more extensive investigation of why abused-nonabusing mothers do not repeat familial abuse is needed before definite conclusions can be made. However, the present findings are suggestive that both a conscious decision can be made not to abuse and that remembering the pain is also implicated in the discontinuity of intergenerational patterns of abuse.

The finding that being a nonabusing parent does not necessarily require high self-esteem, has implications for the kind of treatment offered to abusing parents. Often the initial focus of a treatment program is to help the parent feel better about him or herself before teaching parenting skills (Buck, 1984). However, this may not be the most effective intervention for breaking the cycle. This may be especially pertinent given Epstein's (1973) position that major postulates such as "I am loveworthy" are highly resistant to change. On the other hand, just as abusing parents are not considered to be a homogeneous group identifiable by a single set of characteristics, successful intervention and treatment may involve as many diverse approaches as there are diverse causes for the abuse in

the first place.

The present results clearly suggest that for the group of participants tested, being identified as an abusing parent did not unequivocably lead to low self-esteem as might be anticipated from the impression given in the literature. That is, the women in group 3 who had been identifed as abusing parents had the highest level of self-esteem for the sample. A possible explanation again draws on the theories of Bowlby (1969) and Epstein (1973), in that a person with high self-esteem, which can be obtained as a function of his/her relationship with parents, would be accepting of him/herself, which includes accepting one's failures. Thus, the mothers in group 3 may not be proud of their parenting behaviour but may accept their shortcomings, whereas the women in group 2 who were effective parents had lower self-esteem as a fuction of their relationship with their parents while they were growing up. This explanation would also account for the differences obtained in . the self-esteem scores for the two groups of abusing mothers. It is important to keep in mind that the sample size for group 3 was small (N=8) and that the interaction was not significant. Thus these speculations should be treated as such and not accepted until replicated, however, it would be fruitful for future researchers to specifically test for the interaction of history and status. It might be that confounding these two variables by simply comparing abusing with nonabusing parents on level of self-esteem has resulted in some of the inconsistent

findings reported in the literature (e.g., Shorkey, 1980).

Another possible explanation for the findings for the self-esteem variable is that the women in group 3 were responding in a socially desirable manner. Wright (1976) found that battering parents were able to appear significantly healthier when the social desirability of the item was more obvious. However, this does not explain why the women in group 1 did not also score higher for self-esteem. Furthermore, the four groups did not differ in their responses to the CAPI Lie scale, which suggests that none of the groups were particularly susceptible to social desirability bias.

The second significant main effect for history, on the Child Abuse Potential Inventory (CAPI), revealed that women who had been abused as children demonstrated a significantly higher purported potential for abuse than women who had not been abused as children (see Table 8). Milner (1980) in the CAPI manual stated that the primary purpose of the inventory was to provide professionals with a device that could screen individuals suspected of child abuse. Moreover, he specified that the inventory should not be used as a diagnostic tool for labeling a parent abusive, but rather should only be used as a screening instrument for individuals suspected of abuse. However, for the present data, the main effect for Status (i.e., whether or not the mother was currently abusing her child) was not significant. Therefore, the CAPI was more sensitive to the participants' childhood history than their parenting status. Although

presumably not desirable given the purpose of the inventory, this result may be explained by potentially too much weight being given to those items pertaining to one's childhood history and family problems rather than to those items concerned with parenting attitudes, expectations of children, etc. Thus, Milner and Wimberley (1979) in developing the CAPI, appear to have too readily accepted the hypothesis of intergenerational transmission of abuse. Consequently, the importance of childhood history in the identification of parents at risk for child abuse may have been overemphasised. That the inventory has been found to be successful in identifying parents at risk (Milner, Gold, Ayoub, & Jacewitz, 1984; Pruitt & Erickson, 1985) may be due to the lack of control for childhood experiences in those studies investigating parents at risk for abuse. Identifying individuals as at risk by relying too heavily on their childhood experiences would seem to be perpetuating the cycle hypothesis as well as the referral bias previously suggested as operating in the screening of abusive parents for treatment programs. It is questionable whether this measure should be used as a screening device in research or clinical settings with potentially abusive parents.

The results for the remaining three variables, stress, social support and parent's perception of difficulties with their child, revealed no significant differences. Based on the findings of other research studies (e.g., Egeland et al, 1980; Gaudin & Pollane, 1983; Salzinger et al, 1983; Straus, 1980) it

was hypothesized that mothers who abused their children would report higher levels of negative stress and less support from their social networks. The stress measure used in the present study (Sarason et al., 1978) allowed participants to indicate the number of events which had occurred during the two years previous to the study and also to subjectively rate how negative (-3 to -1), neutral (0), or positive (+1 to +3) the event had been. Therefore, similar to the measure employed by Egeland et al (1980), both a quantitative and qualitative stress score could be obtained for each participant. The score used in the final analyses was the amount of negative stress indicated, as negative stress was considered to be more disruptive than positive stress. For this score there was no significant difference among the four groups. It is possible, though considered unlikely, that the groups may have differed on the amount of positive stress experienced in the two years previous to data collection. However, it is unclear how high positive stress would relate to abusive patterns of parenting.

An alternative explanation for the lack of differences found for stress among the four groups is that it is not the amount of stress per se which is important. Belsky (1980) suggested that in the etiology of child maltreatment the ability of the family to cope may be more important than absolute levels of stress. Thus, an assessment of the participants' perception of coping might have been more useful than assessing their level of perceived stress. Finally, several researchers have suggested

that perceived stress is mediated by social support networks (Garbarino, 1977; Gaudin & Pollane, 1983; Howze & Kotch, 1984). Therefore, the nonsignificant finding for stress may be associated with the nonsignificant finding for social support. That is, the four groups perceived an equal amount of social support which could have mediated the participants' feeling of amount of stress experienced.

The amount of social support reported by the abusing mothers was expected to be less than the amount reported by the nonabusing mothers. The level of network supportiveness derived from the participants' responses to the Social Support Network questionnaire developed by Tietjen (Tietjen & Bradley, 1985) was the measure employed. Contrary to what was hypothesized, this measure did not reveal any significant differences among the four groups. A possible explanation for this finding is that the abusing mothers may have obtained increased support as a consequence of attending a treatment program. Both program personnel and other parents in the program would be potential sources of support for the abusing mothers, thus their level of social support might have increased substantially following enrollment in the program. It is possible that had the amount of support perceived by the abusing mothers been measured at the time the abusive incidents were occurring, the hypothesized effect might have been obtained. A more detailed analysis of the abusing and nonabusing mothers' network composition might reveal whether this suggestion is feasible.

In addition, the abusing and nonabusing mothers might differ on the degree of support received from kin and non-kin networks. Specifically, the abusing mothers may report limited non-kin networks and more extensive kin networks as suggested by Salzinger et al. (1983) and Straus (1980). If the level of support received from these two networks were combined in the analysis, as was the case in the present analyses, significant differences between the abusing and nonabusing mothers may disappear. The measure used in the present study was a replication of the measure employed by Tietjen and Bradley (1985), thus the overall level of network supportiveness was analysed and nonsignificance among the groups was obtained.

The nonsignificant finding on the measure of the parents' perceptions of their children was unexpected given the findings from other research studies (e.g., Herrenkohl & Herrenkohl, 1979; Mash et al., 1983; Wolfe & Mosk, 1983) and the general impression presented in the literature that abusing parents tend to perceive their children more negatively than do nonabusing parents (Kempe & Kempe, 1978). A possible explanation for this finding is that the measure employed (PAT, Cowen et al., 1970) was not sufficiently sensitive to detect significant group differences as was suggested by Mash et al (1983) to explain their nonsignificant findings. Without an external measure of the children's behaviour it is difficult to uncover whether the parents' perceptions of their children were accurate. It is possible that some parents were underreporting problems because

they tend to be limited in their ability to perceive their children's problems, or they may be overreporting problems because they see their children as "bad", or they may be accurately reporting their children's behaviour. If all these possibilities were occuring it is not surprising that nonsignificance was obtained. Finally, it should be noted that, notwithstanding the findings reported in the literature, the present finding of nonsignificance may be correct.

Finally, the methodological issues involved in conducting research in the area of child abuse are important to consider. Starr, Ceresnie and Rossi (1976) stated that the complexities involved with child abuse research cannot be underestimated. These researchers identified four classes of issues to consider when conducting research with abusive families. Specifically, the first set of issues concerned sample selection and the criteria employed to define the groups, which involved appropriate use of control groups, use of representational samples, and clearly specified definitions of abuse. The second set of issues were concerned with measurement problems which can plaque most studies in particular, response bias. The third set specified were ethical issues, especially the importance of quaranteeing confidentiality versus the mandate to report suspected cases of abuse. And finally Starr et al. discussed the issues arising for the researcher when studying social problems. Primarily these involved the necessity of separating the role of researcher from role of therapist. Another issue of importance

not specified by Starr et al., involves the design of the study. Specifically, most studies of abusing and nonabusing parents employ a case control design which recognises the importance of matching the groups on socioeconomic variables. However, it is also important for researchers using case control designs to be aware of the biases operating when cases are determined as outlined by Gelles (1975). Because of the inherent biases, a better design is the prospective study as is currently being utilized by Egeland and Sroufe (1981b). However, a drawback with their study is that they are restricted to using just a population considered high risk for developmental disorders. A more ideal prospective study would include normative samples. Given the necessity of being realistic and the limits of time and finances, case control studies are still useful especially if implemented with awareness that inherent biases are operating at several levels of selection and if controls are carefully matched on demographic variables including history of childhood abusive experiences.

Many of the above issues arose in the present study; some were dealt with satisfactorily while others remained problematic. First, the ethical issue of only being able to offer conditional confidentiality, dependent on whether a suspected case of abuse was identified, did not appear to cause undue concern for the participants. However, confidentiality in principle was very important for the majority of the participants, some of whom were discussing their experiences

with a stranger for the first time. The advantage of soliciting participants from treatment programs was that these mothers had already been reported, so conditional confidentiality was not an issue. It was not necessary to report any women, so as it transpired confidentiality was not breeched.

Second, the participants were not considered to be responding in a biased fashion to the questionnaires. This was indicated by the finding of no difference among the groups on the Lie scale of the CAPI. The participants' responses to each item were checked by the researcher during the interview and any discrepancies were discussed and clarrified. Rapport appeared to be established with the majority of participants which added to the impression that the participants were honest in their responses. It was essential that rapport was established since these women were being asked to disclose intimate and in some cases painful information. In many cases the researcher had to face the dilemma identified by Starr et al (1976) of keeping separate the role of researcher from the role of potential therapist. This was usually solved by offering support during the research interview and then providing referral information for appropriate agencies, private therapists, support groups etc.

Third, the sample selection was a problem with this study. As discussed in the methodology and results chapters, the demographic differences arising from having unmatched groups caused computational difficulties when the data were analysed.

If the groups had been matched initially and hence less conservative analyses conducted, more of the findings might have been significant. Conversely, significant differences found in other studies may be more attributable to class differences than whether the parents are employing abusing patterns of parenting. In addition, although an advantage was mentioned for accessing treatment populations, there were disadvantages as well. In particular, it is likely that the sample of abusing parents was not representative of abusing parents in general.

Fourth and finally, while reliance on retrospective reporting of childhood experiences was not ideal it was not considered to be a disadvantage for the examination of the relationship of abuse in childhood to current parenting status. As discussed previously, reliance on retrospective recollections of abuse might have biased the data for the testing of the cycle hypothesis. However, the mother's perception and identity as an abused or nonabused child were considered to be most important with respect to her current parenting patterns rather than whether or not her recollections were correct. Clearly the best design to fulfill both purposes of this study would include both actual childhood experiences and adult recollections and integrations of these experiences.

In conclusion, therefore, the following suggestions are offered in order that answers to some of the complex questions posed in dealing with understanding the phenonmenon of child abuse may be forthcoming. Researchers should first of all be

vigilant about studying homogeneous groups of parents. Abusing parents per se are not a homogeneous group. Therefore, not only should parents who physically abuse, emotionally abuse or neglect their children be studied separately, but also subgroups within these larger groupings of maltreatment should be identified and examined independently. Thus, it is essential that researchers carefully describe the characteristics of their sample, and not combine parents with varying typologies. Second, stringent research procedures should be adhered to, for example, the use of matched control groups. It would be important for researchers to match on history of childhood maltreatment as well as other pertinent demographic characteristics. It would also be helpful if researchers used measures that had been included in other research studies in order to allow comparison of results across studies. Eventually a picture of consistency and/or inconsistency would develop. Third, prospective studies need to be conducted, with the recognition that this would not provide a panacea for all the difficulties involved in conducting research with abusive populations. That is, the longitudinal approach which might appear ideal is not without inherent problems. Some of these include length of time involved (intergenerational studies would take up to 30 years), participant attrition, and measures that would not be appropriate across the time span of the study. However, in order to address the question of the intergenerational transmission of abuse, a prospective study is essential. Not only is a propective study necessary to assess whether abuse is

consistently passed from generation to generation, but also it is necessary to specify the characteristics of people for whom intergenerational continuity applies compared to the characteristics of those for whom discontinuity applies. With such prospective studies, researchers could come closer to answering the question, why do some parents keep the pain alive?

### APPENDIX A

Description of the three treatment programs for abusive parents

1. Parent and Child Therapy Society (PACT):

This program provided intensive (four days a week), long-term (up to one year) treatment services to abusive parents and their children. The clients enrolled in the intensive program were primarily mothers and their children who were referred by a child welfare agency or the courts for treatment. By far the majority (94%) came from backgrounds where they had experienced physical and/or sexual abuse plus emotional deprivation. Criteria for admission involved evidence of continuous emotional abusive parenting patterns, and/or evidence of physical abuse to the child. Both active and passive abusers were accepted into the program. Families where only neglectful parenting patterns existed were not eliqible for admission. Nor were parents eligible if the abuse was related to drugs, alcohol, mental illness or sociopathic characteristics of the parent. If the child was under school age s/he also attended the program at the same time as the mother. Older children could not attend as the program involved attendance from 9:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. The children were not necessarily living with the mother, some had been apprehended and were temporarily in the custody of foster parents.

2. Chesterfield House (which is a program of North Shore Family Services):

This organization provided assistance to parents who were under stress and were having difficulty managing their children. Clients were either self referred (primarily because of concerns of potential abuse) or referred by the Ministry of Human Resources for abusive (physical and/or emotional) and/or neglectful parenting practices. Both active and passive abusers were accepted into the program. The majority of the clients were women, although evening groups were run for the male partners. The women attended 2 group sessions per week and received individual counselling. The children (if under school age) also attended the program for treatment at the same time as their mothers. In addition, once every two weeks, the mothers could leave their children at the house for an afternoon in order to have some time for themselves.

# 3. ACT II Parenting Program:

This program offered an intensive treatment program (2 days a week, for up to one year) for abusive and neglectful parents and their children. Although fathers were accommodated in this program, the client population was primarily mothers. All clients were referred to the program through the Ministry of Human Resources and active or passive, physical and/or emotional abusers were accepted into the program. The abused children may have been apprehended and temporarily placed in foster care.

However, whether living with the mother or not they attended the program if under school age, as did their non-abused siblings if young enough.

### APPENDIX B

# Participant's Information Document

The purpose of this study is to investigate how childhood experiences influence subsequent parenting styles that is, to look at parenting patterns across generations. Mothers with various experiences both as children and as parents will be interviewed and asked to complete questionnaires. It is hoped that this study will be useful in indicating how we learn to parent.

Participation will involve being interviewed and completing a set of questionnaires. The interview session will last approximately two to three hours. Only mothers will be interviewed although information about partners' experiences will be collected from mothers when applicable. The interview will involve discussing your experiences as a child, your parents' styles of parenting and your current experiences as a parent. You may refuse to answer any specific question(s). All of your responses will be kept strictly confidential. Noone, other than the researcher will have access to your answers.

Several days before the interview, I will visit you at home to discuss the study, answer any of your questions, ask you to sign a consent form and deliver a set of questionnaires that measure your:

self-esteem; perceptions of your child; life stress; social

support networks; attitudes toward childrearing; and background demographic information.

If you are willing to participate and/or have further questions concerning the study please contact me at 733-8652 or leave a message for me at 291-3354 (Psychology Department, S.F.U.). Thank you.

LESLEY A. JOY

#### APPENDIX C

## Structured Interview Protocol

Experiences as a parent

Please answer the following questions with your Target child in mind. This is the child under ten with whom you have the most difficulty.

In your own opinion do you think you abuse your child?

IF YES:

- 1. Is this abuse Verbal; Emotional; Physical; Sexual (More than one may be checked) The coding protocol in Appendix D is employed to obtain information on the type of behaviour directed toward the child, severity, frequency, injuries sustained and outcome.
- 2. Does your partner abuse your children? What type of abuse, severity, frequency, injuries and outcome.
- 3. What do you do when you get angry?

#### IF NO:

- 1. How do you discipline your child?
- 2. What do you do when you get angry?
- 3. How does your partner discipline your child and what hapens when your partner is angry?
- 4. How competent do you feel about being a parent and being able to deal with your child?
- 5. In what way is this child difficult to handle?

Does s/he drive you up the wall?
What do you do when s/he does drive you up the wall?

- 6. What do you do when your child frustrates you; disobeys you; or does not listen?
- 7. How have you learnt to parent? (i.e., what has influenced the way you parent?)

### Experiences as a child

Were you abused as child?

IF YES: Was this Emotional (read definition) and/or Physical (read definition)? Use the coding protocol in Appendix D to obtain details on the abuse experienced (i.e., type, frequency, severity, duration, injuries, and outcome).

#### IF NO:

- 1. How were you punished and/or disciplined as a child?
- 2. What happened in your family when either parent got angry?
- 3. Were your siblings abused?
- 4. Did you feel loved? Even though your parents disciplined you, was this done in an atmosphere of love?

#### APPENDIX D

# CODING PROTOCOL FOR OBJECTIVE DEFINITION OF HISTORY OF PHYSICAL ABUSE

These behaviours must have been done on purpose not accidentally.

Verbal reprimand (e.g., scolding)							
Yelled at child							
Mental assaults (e.g., called child bad names, said bad things about & to child)							
Child never seems to be able to satisfy the parent, always told child that s/he is							
"letting them down", never regard the child as worthwhile							
Cold, rejecting parents - no physical contact or very little - no show of affection							
Violent temper outbursts in front of child when other people or property were damaged							
Parents physically abusive to one another in child's presence							
Lack of supervision for extended periods (e.g., one day when child 5 or less, days							
when child older)							
Locked up (where?							
Medical care neglect							
Deliberate neglect &/or exposure							
Abandonment							
Nutritional deprivation .							
Spanked child with hand on head							
body							
Spanked child with an object on head							
body Specify object							
Beaten child with an object (include hand) on head Specify object							
body							
Shaking, yanking							
Thrown child about							
Kicked							
Bitten							
Strangled, suffocated - without loss of consciousness							
Drowned - with loss of consciousness							
Shot at							
Stabbed, cut, slashed							
Burnt (e.g., with cigarettes), scalded							
Poisioned, drugged							
Other: specify							

#### APPENDIX D CONTINUED

#### CODES FOR PART I : Experiences as a child

#### COLUMN I

Indicate any behaviours experienced as a child & frequency of occurence

- 1. never
- 2. once in childhood
- 3. several times in childhood
- 4. approx. once a year
- 5. several times a year
- 6. monthly
- 7. weekly

#### COLUMN II

During what period in your life did this happen?

#### COLUMN III

Severity of behaviour experienced

in mother's own opinion

- 1. severe (permenant damage)
- 2. moderate (damage not permenant)
- 3. mild (pain, no damage)

#### COLUMN IV

Types of injuries sustained

- l. bruises; welts
- 2. sprains; dislocations
- 3. malnutrition (deliberately inflicted)
- 4. freezing; exposure
- 5. burns; scalding
- 6. abrasions; contusions; lacerations
- 7. mutilation
- 8. wounds; cuts; punctures (bites)
- 9. unconsciousness
- 10. internal &/or multiple fractures
- 11. bone fractures (not skull)
- 12. multiple bone fractures (not skull)
- 13. skull &/or facial bone fractures
- 14. subdural hemorrhage or hematoma (bleeding into or around the brain)

# APPENDIX D CONTINUED

COLUMN IV CONT'D							
15.	brain damage						
16.	damage to vision						
17.	lasting mental effects; please specify						
18.	other: please specify						
COLI	V NATU						
Med	ical treatment received for each injury						
1.	none						
2.	2. one visit to physician						
3.	3. repeated visits to physician						
4.	hospitalization: one day						
5.	two - seven days						
6.	eight - thirty days						
7.	over thirty days						
8.	psychiatric; counselling; therapy						

APPENDIX E

# DEMOGRAPHIC CHARACTERISTICS

		GROUP 1 abused-abusing	GROUP 2 abused-nonabusing	GROUP 3 nonabused-abusing	GROUP 4 nonabused-
		(N=16)	(N=19)	(N=8)	nonabusing (N=21)
MOTHERS' AGE	MEAN yrs. S.D. RANGE	28.44 6.22 19 - 40	33.95 4.71 24 - 42	29.38 3.89 25 - 34	30.57 4.6 22 - 36
PARTNERS AGE	MEAN yrs. S.D. RANGE	34.29 (n=7) 6.4 24 - 43	36.79 (n=14) 4.87 31 - 46	28.2 (n=5) 5.17 21 - 34	33.11 (n=19) 4.63 24 - 42
MARITAL STATUS	SINGLE MARRIED/ COMMON LAW	6.3% (n=1) 50.0% (n=8)	5.3% (n=1) 73.7% (n=14)	0% 62,5% (n=5)	4.8% (n=1) 90.4% (n=19)
	DIVORCED/ SEPARATED	43.7% (n=7)	21.0% (n=4)	37.5% (n=3)	4.8% (n=1)
MOTHERS 'EDUCATION	LESS GR 12 GR 12 &/or	56.2% (n=9)	<i>₽€</i>	12.5% (n=1)	%0
	HIGH SCHOOL SOME UNIV	12.5% (n=2)	26.3% (n=5)	50.0% (n=4)	23,8% (n=5)
	COLLEGE		57.9% (n=11)	37.5% (n=3)	47.6% (n=10)
	DEGREE GRAD DEGREE	6.3% (n=1) 0%	15.8% (n=3) 0%	0 0 8 86	19.0% (n=4) 9.6% (n=2)
PARTNERS' EDUCATION	LESS GR 12 GR 12 &/or	28.6% (n=2)	₽6 ₽6	40.0% (n=2)	15.9% (n=3)
	HIGH SCHOOL SOME UNIV	42.8% (n≈3)	14.3% (n=2)	40.0% (n=2)	5.3% (n=1)
	COLLEGE DEGREE GRAD DEGREE	28.6% (n=2) 0% 0%	42.9% (n=6) 35.7% (n=5) 7.1% (n=1)	20.0% (n=1) 0% 0%	36.8% (n=7) 21.0% (n=4) 21.0% (n=4)
MOTHERS! MOTHERS!	LESS GR 12 GR 12 &/or	50.0% (n=6)	50.0% (n=7)	14.3% (n=1)	27.8% (n=5)
EDUCATION	HIGH SCHOOL	, 33.3% (n=4)	50.0 <b>%</b> (n=7)	85.7% (n=6)	33.3% (n=6)

APPENDIX E CONTINUED

	O apt	GROUP 1 abused-abusing	GROUP 2 abused-nonabusing	GROUP 3 nonabused-abusing	GROUP 4 nonabused-
		(N=16)	(N=19)	(N=8)	nonabusing (N=21)
MOTHERS' MOTHERS' EDUCATION CONT'D	SOME UNIV/ COLLEGE DEGREE GRAD DEGREE	16.7% (n=2) 0% 0%	O O O	0 0 0 86 86 86	11.1% (n=2) 22.2% (n=4) 5.6% (n=1)
	# UNKNOWN	4	72	•	٣
MOTHER EMPLOYED	YES	12.5% (n=2)	63.2% (n=12)	25.0% (n=2)	23.8% (n=5)
PARTNER EMPLOYED	YES	71.4% (n=5)	92.3% (n=12)	80.0% (n=4)	89.5% (n=17)
INCOME (YEARLY)	LESS \$10,000 \$10,000-20,000 \$21,000-30,000 \$31,000-40,000	66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66 66	10.5% (n=2) 0% 26.4% (n=5) 26.4% (n=5)	25.0% (n=2) 25.0% (n=1) 25.0% (n=2) 25.0% (n=2)	9.6% (n=2) 14.3% (n=3) 9.6% (n=2) 28.5% (n=6)
	MORE \$40,000			D 0	38.0% (n=8)
MOTHER COLLECTING WELFARE	RE YES YES	75.0% (N=12) 0%	10.5% (n=2) 5.3% (n=1)	12.5% (n=1) 12.5% (n=1)	14.3% (n=3) 0%
NATIONALITY ENGLISH CANADIAN	ADIAN	100%	84.2%	87.5%	85.7%
LENGTH OF TIME TOGETHER IN MOST RECENT RELATIONSHIP	MEAN (MOS) S.D. RANGE(MOS)	63 (n=8) 36.32 3 - 132	93 (n=14) 48.96 12 - 168	85.2 (n=5) 41.22 30 - 132	104.53 (n=19) 44.15 36 - 192
CHANGED MARITAL STATUS SINCE TARGET CHILD BORN	YES	62.5% (n=10)	) 42.1% (n=8)	62.5% (n=5)	4.8% (n=1)

			,			
		APPENDIX E CONTINUED	INUED			
		GROUP 1 (N=16)	GROUP 2 (N=19)	GROUP 3 (N=8)	GROUP 4 (N=21)	
LENGTH OF TIME LIVED IN CURRENT RESIDENCE	LESS 1 mos 2-6 mos 7-24 mos more 2 yrs RANGE	12.5% (n=2) 37.5% (n=6) 37.5% (n=6) 12.5% (n=2) 1mos - 13 yrs	10.6% (n=2) 0% 10.6% (n=2) 78.8% (n=15) 1 mos - 10.5 yrs	0% 25.0% (n=2) 37.5% (n=3) 37.5% (n=3) 2mos - 6.33 yrs	0% 4.8% (n=1) 33.4% (n=7) 61.8% (n=13) 4mos - 8 yrs	
FAMILY SIZE	MEAN S.D. RANGE	2.31 .87 1 - 4	1.74 .65	1.88 .64 1 - 3	1.57 .6 1 - 3	
NUMBER OF BOYS	MEAN S.D. RANGE	.812 .66 0 - 2	.5851	1.25 1.04 0 - 3	1.0 .71 0 -2	
NUMBER OF GIRLS	MEAN S.D. RANGE	1.5 .73 0 - 3	1.16	.63	.57 .68 0 - 2	
SEX OF TARGET CHILD	MALE FEMALE	25% (n=4) 75% (n=12)	36.8% (n=7) 63.2% (n=12)	50.0% (n=4) 50.0% (n=4)	71.4% (n=15) 28.6\$ (n=6)	
MOTHERS'S AGE AT BIRTH OF TARGET CHILD	MEAN Yrs S.D. RANGE	23.88 6.11 15 - 36	27.74 4.9 20 - 38	24.75 4.1 20 - 31	27.43 4.69 19 - 34	
AGE OF TARGET CHILD	MEAN mos	52.75	66.78	55,38	38.79	

#### APPENDIX F

#### BACKGROUND INFORMATION

	BACKGRO	UND INFORMATION	PARTICIPANT	'S #
to de associa	ited with styles of p	uch as age, income, ed arenting. In order to the following informa	take there wantabl	been found es into
Age:	years; Date of birt	h: ; ; ; day mth yr	Partner's age:	years
	h:		y:	
Marital Statu	single (neve	r married/common law)		
	married		_	
	separated			
	divorced			
	common law			•
	other: specif	у		
Length of tim	e you and your partn	er have been living to	gether:	years
If separated/	divorced, length of	time you have been sep	arated:	years
Your highest	level of education:	less than grade	12 (specify grade	)
		grade 12		
		Highschool gradua	te	
		some university/c	ommunity college	
		bachelor's degree		
		some graduate tra	ining	
		graduate degree (	specify degree	)
Your partner'	s level of education	:less than grade l	2 (specify grade	)
		grade 12		
		Highschool gradua	te	
		some university/c	ommunity college	
		bachelor's degree		
		some graduate tra	ining	
		graduate degree (	specify degree	)
Children:	First name	Sex Date of	Birth	Present age
		Day Mon	th Year	
		<del></del>		
		<del></del>	<del> </del>	

Occupation: Are you currently employed?	YesNo
Is your partner currently employed?	YesNo
If you are no longer employed, how long ago did	you become unemployed?months
i. What kind of work are/were you doing?	
(e.g., electrician, secretary, teacher)	
ii. What kind of business or industry was this?	
(e.g., TV & radio, retail shoe store, offic	e)
iii. Were you:	
an employee of a PRIVATE company or bus	sinessPR
a GOVERNMENT employee	gov
self-employed in OWN company or busines	ssOwn
working WITHOUT pay in a family busines	ss or farmWP
iv. Partner's occupation (if applicable)	
v. Father's occupation during the time you liv	red at home
as a child, until you left home	
vi. Mother's occupation until you left home	
Mother's education level:	
Family income from all sources, before taxes: under \$5,000	
\$5,000 - \$10,000	Please check here if you are:
\$10,000 - \$15,000	collecting welfare
\$15,000 - \$20,000	collecting UIC
\$20,000 - \$25,000	collecting of
\$25,000 - \$30,000	
\$30,000 - \$35,000	
\$35,000 _ \$40,000	
over \$40,000	
Financial support is provided:	
entirely by my partner	
mostly by my partner	
jointly	.'
mostly by me	
entirely by me	

#### APPENDIX G

#### Consent Form

The University and those conducting this project subscribe to the ethical conduct of research and to the protection at all times of the interests, comfort and safety of the participants. This form and the information it contains are given to you to ensure your full understanding of the procedures involved. Your signature on this form does not take away any rights you may have; rather it indicates that you have received all information necessary to give a truly informed consent to your taking part.

Having been asked by Lesley Joy of the Psychology Department of Simon Fraser University to participate in a research project, I have read the procedures outlined in the document entitled "Participants' Information Document".

I understand the procedures to be used in this study.

I understand that my participation in this study is completely voluntary and that I may refuse to answer any question(s) and/or withdraw my participation at any time.

I understand that my responses to the materials used in this study will be kept strictly confidential except in those instances where there is information pertaining to clear and imminent danger to an individual. Under the Family and Child Services Act of British Columbia any individual who becomes aware of circumstances in which the life or well being of a child is in clear danger is obliged to inform the child protection authorities. I understand that in the event of such a necessary breach of confidence Lesley Joy will discuss the situation and her perceptions with me before any action is undertaken.

I also understand that on all records I will be identified by a code number only and that no one except Lesley Joy will have access to the master list matching names and code numbers.

I understand that I may register any complaint I might have about the study with the supervisor of the project, Dr. Meredith Kimball of the Psychology Department, Simon Fraser University, or with Dr. Roger Blackman, Chairman of the Psychology Department.

I understand that the results of this study, upon its completion, will be freely available to me on request to Lesley Joy. I also understand that in order to maintain confidentiality, all reports will be based only on aggregate not individual data.

I agree to participate by completing a series of questionnaires and being interviewed as described in the document stipulated above.

DATE	NAME	
SIGNATURE	· .	
	you are interested in receiving a copy of the final report of this stud	у,
-	Postal Code:	
	Dhone #:	

APPENDIX H

Results of Analyses of Variance on the five dependent variables

# SELF ESTEEM

	770 60777	GE - DDDGD	_	_
VARIABLE	REG COEFF	ST ERROR	T	P
INTERCEPT	328.232	13.0661	25.12	0.000
history (H)	21.2608	7.09651	3.00	0.0038
status (S)	-3.04884	7.12020	-0.43	0.671
employed	-11.3971	16.8821	-0.68	0.503
income	14.3778	15.1334	0.95	0.347
education	5.72046	9.38448	0.61	0.545
H x S	-13.2559	7.09651	-1.87	0.0601
H x emp	13.0947	6.98291	1.88	0.067
H x income	-2.31186	7.02731	-0.33	0.744
H x ed	-13.2887	7.77511	-1.71	0.094
S x emp	-7.73925	7.14972	-1.08	0.285 +
S x income	12.3809	6.96111	1.78	0.082
S x ed	-0.873807	7.77511	-0.11	0.911
emp x ed	-4.13074	6.97939	-0.59	0.557
emp x inc	16.0386	15.5358	1.03	0.308
ed x inc	-3.87194	9.42577	-0.41	0.683
н х S х емр	-13.1553	6.98291	-1.88	0.066
H x S x inc	-4.14826	10.7469	-0.39	0.701
H x S x ed	4.56437	8.73792	0.52	0.604

VARIABLE	REG COEFF	ST ERROR	Т	P
INTERCEPT	135.529	35.7758	3.79	0.000
history (H)	-62.4386	19.4510	-3.21	0.0025
status (S)	-37.2148	19.5158	-1.91	0.063
employed	-22.8845	46.2040	-0.50	0.623
income	10.2305	41.4181	0.25	0.806
education	-0.560911	25.7059	-0.02	0.983
н x S	13.8809	19.4510	0.71	0.479
H x emp	-33.6978	19.1113	-1.76	0.085
H x income	4.21307	19.2328	0.22	0.828
н x ed	44.8656	21.3057	2.11	0.041
S x emp	5.29062	19.5678	0.27	0.788
S x income	-23.6607	19.0516	-1.24	0.221
S x ed	14.5580	21.3057	0.68	0.498
emp x ed	13.8672	19.1017	0.73	0.472
emp x inc	11.0579	42.5194	0.26	0.796
ed x inc	-13.5162	25.7971	-0.52	0.603
н х S х етр	37.5522	19.1113	1.96	0.056
H x S x inc	11.6459	29.4128	0.40	0.694
н х S х ed	-38.3867	23.9379	-1.60	0.116

PARENTS' PERCEPTION OF THEIR CHILDREN

VARIABLE	REG COEFF	ST ERROR	T	P
INTERCEPT	60.9890	7.95249	7.67	0.000
history (H)	-4.37065	4.31919	-1.01	0.317
status (S)	-2.94964	4.33361	-0.68	0.500
employed	11.6429	10.2750	1.13	0.263
income	-14.3056	9.21072	-1.55	0.128
education	3.08802	5.71173	0.54	0.591
H x S	8.10435	4.31919	1.88	0.067
H x emp	-2.08507	4.25005	-0.49	0.626
H x inc	6.42854	4.27707	1.50	0.140
H x ed	-1.61411	4.73221	-0.34	0.735
S x emp	7.62965	4.35157	1.75	0.087
S x inc	2.11910	4.23678	0.50	0.619
S x ed	-13.5984	4.73221	-2.87	0.006
emp x ed	3.16141	4.24791	0.74	0.461
emp x inc	-16.7997	9.45564	-1.78	0.083
ed x inc	2.67468	5.73686	0.47	0.643
н х S х етр	-0.710071	4.25005	-0.17	0.868
H x S x inc	-7.62114	6.54094	-1.17	0.250
H S x ed	9.83557	5.31821	1.85	0.071

# STRESS

VARIABLE	REG COEFF	ST ERROR	Т	Р
INTERCEPT	19.4636	5.63974	3.45	0.001
history (H)	-4.00029	3.06308	-1.31	0.198
status (S)	-2.15236	3.07330	-0.70	0.487
employed	-0.293948	7.28684	-0.04	0.968
income	-0.825502	6.53204	-0.13	0.900
education	1.71709	4.05064	0.42	0.674
нхѕ	-0.116956	3.06308	-0.04	0.970
H x emp	2.68583	3.01404	0.89	0.378
H x inc	-1.14469	3.03321	-0.38	0.708
н х ed	3.09191	3.35598	0.92	0.362
S x emp	-0.246046	3.08604	-0.08	0.937
S x inc	2.72727	3.00463	0.91	0.369
S x ed	1.83309	3.35598	0.55	0.588
emp x ed	0.309002	3.01252	0.10	0.919
emp x inc	-0.261101	6.70574	-0.04	0.969
ed x inc	-2.44723	4.06846	-0.60	0.551
нх S х емр	0.685827	3.01404	0.23	0.821
HxSxino	0.0942062	4.63869	0.02	0.984
H x S x ed	-2.53032	3.77156	-0.67	0.506

# SUPPORT

VARIABLE	REG COEFF	ST ERROR	Ţ	P
INTERCEPT	173.821	44.8289	3.88	0.000
history (H)	37.3979	24.3731	1.53	0.132
status (S)	-9.47912	24.4542	-0.39	0.700
employed	-10.6907	57.8959	-0.18	0.854
income	48.3739	51.8988	0.93	0.356
education	14.9627	32.2107	0.46	0.645
H x S	-27.4215	24.3731	-1.13	0.267
H x emp	55.8467	23.9474	2.33	0.024
H x inc	-7.60256	24.0997	-0.32	0.754
H x ed	2.20939	26.6971	0.08	0.934
S x emp	4.11490	24.5194	0.17	0.868
S x inc	-4.59296	23.8726	-0.19	0.848
S x ed	14.3878	26.6971	0.54	0.593
$emp \times ed$	17.9221	23.9353	0.75	0.458
emp x inc	16.7586	53.2789	0.31	0.755
ed x inc	-26.9669	32.3250	-0.83	0.409
н х S х етр	-44.2783	23.9474	-1.85	0.071
H x S x inc	15.6560	36.8556	0.42	0.673
нхЅхed	9.64528	29.9954	0.32	0.749

#### REFERENCES

- Ainsworth, M.D. (1973). The development of infant-mother attachment. In B.M. Caldwell & H.N. Ricciuti (Eds.),

  Review of child development. Vol. 3.(pp.1-94). Chicago:
  University of Chicago Press.
- Ainsworth, M.D. (1980). Attachment and child abuse. In G. Gerbner, C.J. Ross, & E. Zigler (Eds.), Child abuse: An agenda for action (pp.35-47). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Ainsworth, M.D. (1982). Attachment: Retrospect and prospect. In C.M. Parkes & J. Stevenson-Hinde (Eds.), The place of attachment in human behavior (pp.3-30). New York: Basic Books.
- Ainsworth, M.D., Blehar, M., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978).

  Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation. Hillsdale, NJ.: Lawrence Erlbaum Assoc.
- Anderson, S., & Lauderdale, M. (1982). Characteristics of abusive parents: A look at self esteem. <u>International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect</u>, 6, 285-293.
- Bandura, A. (1973). Aggression: A social learning analysis. Englewood Cliffs, NJ.: Prentice-Hall.
- Bates, J., Freeland, C., & Lounsbury, M. (1979). Measurement of infant difficultness. Child Development, 50, 794-803.
- Bell, R.Q. (1974). Contributions of human infants to caregiving and social interaction. In M. Lewis & R. Rosenblum (Eds.), The effect of the infant on its caregiver (pp.1-19). New York: Wiley.
- Belsky, J. (1978). Three theoretical models of child abuse: A critical review. <u>International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect</u>, 2, 37-49.
- Belsky, J. (1980). Child maltreatment: An ecological integration. American Psychologist, 35, 320-335.
- Belsky, J. (1984). The determinants of parenting: A process model. Child Development, 55, 83-96.
- Bauer, W., & Twentyman, C.J. (1985). Abusing, neglectful and comparison mothers' responses to child related and non-child related stressors. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>53</u>, 335-343.

- Blumberg, M. (1974). Psychopathology of the abusing parent.

  American Journal of Psychotherapy, 28, 21-29.
- Bond, C., & McMahon, R. (1984). Relationships between marital distress and child behavior problems, maternal personal adjustment, maternal personality and maternal parenting behavior. <u>Journal of Abnormal Psychology</u>, 93, 348-351.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Attachment and loss: Vol. 1. Attachment. New York: Basic Books.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. American Psychologist, 32, 513-531.
- Buck, M. (1984). Learning and teaching in child abuse: Treatment of abusive families (Project #4559-1-52). Health and Welfare Canada.
- Burgess, R.L., & Conger, R.D. (1978). Family interaction in abusive, neglectful and normal families. Child Development, 49, 1163-1173.
- Cicchetti, D., & Rizley, R. (1981). Developmental perspectives on the etiology, intergenerational transmission and sequelae of child maltreatment. New Directions for Child Development, 11, 31-55.
- Cochran, M., & Brassard, J. (1979). Child development and personal social networks. Child Development, 50, 601-616.
- Conger, R.D., Burgess, R.L., & Barrett, C. (1979). Child abuse related to life change and perceptions of illness: Some preliminary findings. The Family Coordinator, 28, 73-78.
- Cowen, E.L., Huser, J., Beach, D.R., & Rappoport, J. (1970).
  Parental perceptions of young children and their relation to indexes of adjustment. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>34</u>, 97-103.
- Crandall, R. (1973). The measurement of self-esteem and constructs. In J.P. Robinson & R.R. Shaver (Eds.),

  Measures of social psychological attitudes (pp. 45-167).

  Ann Arbor: Survey Research Center, Institute for Social Research, University of Michigan.
- Crittenden, P. (1984). Sibling interaction: Evidence of a generational effect in maltreating infants. <u>International</u> Journal of <u>Child Abuse</u> and <u>Neglect</u>, <u>8</u>, 433-438.

- Crittenden, P. (1985). Social networks, quality of child rearing and child development. Child Development, <u>56</u>, 1299-1313.
- Curtis, G. (1963). Violence breeds violence perhaps? American Journal of Psychiatry, 120, 386-387.
- DeLozier, P. (1982). Attachment theory and child abuse. In C.M.

  Parkes & J. Stevenson-Hinde (Eds.), <u>The place of attachment in human behavior</u> (pp. 95-117). New York: Basic Books.
- Dion, K. (1974). Children's physical attractiveness and sex as determinants of adult punitiveness. <u>Developmental</u> Psychology, 10, 772-778.
- Dixon, W. J. (Ed.). (1983). <u>BMDP</u> <u>statistical software</u>. Berkeley, CA.: University of California Press.
- Ebeling, N., & Hill, D. (Eds.). (1983). Child abuse and neglect:

  A guide with case studies for treating the child and family. Boston: John Wright, Publishing Sciences Group.
- Egeland, B., Breitenbucher, M., & Rosenberg, D. (1980).

  Prospective study of the significance of life stress in the etiology of child abuse. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 48, 195-205.
- Egeland, B., & Brunnquell, D. (1979). An at risk approach to the study of child abuse: Some preliminary findings. <u>Journal</u> of American Academy of Child Psychiatry, 18, 219-235.
- Egeland, B., & Sroufe, L.A. (1981a). Attachment and early maltreatment. Child Development, 52, 44-52.
- Egeland, B., & Sroufe, L.A. (1981b). Developmental sequelae of maltreatment in infancy. New Directions for Child Development, 11, 77-92.
- Elmer, E. (1967). <u>Children in jeopardy</u>. Pittsburgh, PA.: University of Pittsburg Press.
- Elmer, E., & Gregg, G.S. (1967). Developmental characteristics of abused children. Pediatrics, 40, 596-602.
- Epstein, S. (1973). The self concept revisited or a theory of a theory. American Psychologist, 28, 404-416.
- Evans, A.L. (1980). Personality characteristics and disciplinary attitudes of child-abusing mothers. <u>International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect</u>, 4, 179-187.
- Fitts, W.H. (1965). Manual: Tennessee Self Concept Scale.
  Nashville, TN.: Counselor Recordings & Tests.

- Fitts, W.H. (1972). The self-concept and behavior: Overview and supplement (Research Monograph No. VII). Nashville, TN.:

  Dede Wallace Center, Studies on the Self-Concept and Rehabilitation.
- Fraiberg, S., Adelson, E., & Shapiro, V. (1980). Ghosts in the nursery: A psychoanalytic approach to the problems of impaired infant-mother relationships. In S. Fraiberg (Ed.), Clinical studies in infant mental health (pp.164-196). New York: Basic Books.
- Gaines, R., Sandgrund, A., Green, A., & Power, E. (1978).
  Etiological factors in child maltreatment: A multivariate study of abusing, neglecting and normal mothers. <u>Journal</u> of Abnormal Psychology, 87, 531-540.
- Garbarino, J. (1976). A preliminary study of some ecological correlates of child abuse: The impact of socioeconomic stress on mothers. Child Development, 47, 178-185.
- Garbarino, J. (1977). The human ecology of child maltreatment: A conceptual model for research. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, 39, 721-736.
- Garbarino, J., & Gilliam, G. (1980). <u>Understanding abusive</u> <u>families</u>. Lexington, MA.: Lexington Books.
- Garbarino, J., & Sherman, D. (1980). High-risk neighborhoods and high-risk families: The human ecology of child maltreatment. Child Development, 51, 188-198.
- Gaudin, J., & Pollane, L. (1983). Social networks, stress and child abuse. Children and Youth Services Review, 5(1), 91-102.
- Gelfand, D.M., Hartmann, D.P., Lamb, A.K., Smith, C.L., Mahan, M.A., & Paul, S.C. (1974). The effects of adult models and described alternatives on children's choice of behavior management techniques. Child Development, 45, 585-593.
- Gelles, R. (1973). Child abuse as psychopathology: A sociological critique and reformulation. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 43, 611-621.
- Gelles, R. (1975). The social construction of child abuse.

  American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 45, 363-371.
- Gelles, R. (1978). Violence toward children in the United States. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 48, 580-592.
- Gelles, R. (1980). A review of research in the seventies.

  Journal of Marriage and the Family, 42, 873-885.

- Gelles, R., & Straus, M.A. (1979). Deteminants of violence in the family: Toward a theoretical integration. In W.R. Burr, R. Hill, F.I. Nye, & I.L. Reiss (Eds.), Contemporary theories about the family (pp.549-581). New York: Free Press.
- Gelso, C.J., Birk, J., & Powers, R. (1978). Intergenerational relationships in the development of child rearing attitudes. <u>Journal of Genetic Psychology</u>, 133, 31-41.
- George, C., & Main, M. (1979). Social interactions of young abused children: Approach, avoidance and aggression. Child Development, 50, 306-318.
- Gil, D.G. (1969). Physical abuse of children. Pediatrics, 44, 857-864.
- Gil, D.G. (1970). <u>Violence against children: Physical child abuse in the United States</u>. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Gil, D.G. (1971). Violence against children. <u>Journal of Marriage</u> and the Family, 33, 639-648.
- Gil, D.G. (1975). Unraveling child abuse. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 45, 346-356.
- Gottlieb, B. (1980). The role of individual and social support in preventing child maltreatment. In J. Garbarino & S.H. Stocking (Eds.), <u>Protecting children from abuse and neglect</u> (pp.37-60). San Francisco, CA.: Jossey-Bass.
- Green, A. (1976). A psychodynamic approach to the study and treatment of child abusing parents. <u>Journal of Child</u> Psychiatry, 15, 414-429.
- Green, A., Gaines, R.W., & Sandgrund, A. (1974). Child abuse:
  Pathological syndrome of family interaction. American
  Journal of Psychiatry, 131, 882-886.
- Hampton, R.L., & Newberger, E.H. (1985). Child abuse incidence and reporting by hospitals: Significance of severity, class, and race. American Journal of Public Health, 75, 56-60.
- Helfer, R., & Kempe, C.H. (Eds.). (1968). The battered child. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Herrenkohl, R.C., & Herrenkohl, E.C. (1979). A comparison of abused children and their nonabused siblings. <u>Journal of American Academy of Child Psychiatry</u>, 18, 260-269.

- Herrenkohl, R.C., & Herrenkohl, E.C. (1981). Some antecedents and developmental consequences of child maltreatment. New <u>Directions for Child Development</u>, 11, 57-76.
- Herrenkohl, R., Herrenkohl, E., & Egolf, B. (1983).
  Circumstances surrounding the occurrence of child maltreatment. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 51, 424-431.
- Herzberger, S., Potts, D., & Dillon, M. (1981). Abusive and non-abusive parental treatment from the child's perspective. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 49, 81-90.
- Holmes, T.H. & Rahe, R.H. (1967). The social readjustment rating scale. Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 11, 213-218.
- Howze, D.C. & Kotch, J.B. (1984). Disentangling life events, stress and social support: Implications for the primary prevention of child abuse and neglect. <u>International</u> Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect, 8, 401-409.
- Hunter, R.S., & Kilstrom, N. (1979). Breaking the cycle in abusive families. American Journal of Psychiatry, 136, 1320-1322.
- Humphreys, L.E., & Ciminero, A.R. (1979). Parent report measures of child behavior: A review. <u>Journal of Clinical Child Psychology</u>, <u>8</u>, 56-63.
- Hunter, R.S., Kilstrom, N., Kraybill, E., & Loda, F. (1978).
  Antecedents of child abuse and neglect in premature infants: A prospective study in a newborn intensive care unit. Pediatrics, 61, 629-635.
- Jason, J., Andereck, N., Marks, J., & Tyler, C., Jr. (1982). Child abuse in Georgia: A method to evaluate risk factors and reporting bias. <u>American Journal of Publis Health</u>, 72, 1353-1358.
- Jayaratne, S. (1977). Child abusers as parents and children: A review. Social Work, 22, 5-9.
- Justice, B., & Duncan, D.F. (1976). Life crisis as a precursor to child abuse. <u>Public Health Reports</u>, 91, 110-115.
- Kempe, C.H. (1973). A practical approach to the protection of the abused child and rehabilitation of the abusing parent. <u>Pediatrics</u>, <u>51</u>, 804-881.

- Kempe, C.H., Silverman, F.N., Steele, B., Droegemueller, W., & Silver, H.K. (1962). The battered child syndrome. <u>Journal of the American Medical Association</u>, <u>181</u>, 17-24.
- Kent, J., Weisberg, H., Lamar, B., & Marx, T. (1983).
  Understanding the etiology of child abuse: A preliminary typology of cases. <u>Children and Youth Services Review</u>, 5, 7-29.
- Klaus, M.H. & Kennell, J.H. (1976). <u>Maternal infant bonding</u>. Saint Louis: C.V. Mosby.
- Larrance, D., & Twentyman, C. (1983). Maternal attributions and child abuse. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 92, 449-457.
- Light, R. (1973). Abused and neglected children in America: A study of alternative policies. <u>Harvard Educational Review</u>, 43, 556-598.
- Lynch. M. (1976). Risk factors in the child: A study of abused children and their siblings. In H.P. Martin & C.H. Kempe (Eds.), The abused child (pp.43-56). Cambridge, MA.: Ballinger.
- Main, M., & George, C. (1985). Responses of abused and disadvantaged toddlers to distress in agemates: A study in the day care setting. <a href="Developmental Psychology">Developmental Psychology</a>, 21, 407-412.
- Main, M., & Goldwyn, R. (1984). Predicting rejection of her infant from mother's representation of her own experience: Implications for the abused-abusing intergenerational cycle. International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect, 8, 203-217.
- Martin, H.P. (1976). Which children get abused? High risk factors in the child. In H.P. Martin (Ed.), The abused child: A multidisciplinary approach to developmental issues and treatment (pp.27-41). Cambridge, MA.:

  Ballinger.
- Mash, E., Johnston, C., & Kovitz, K. (1983). A comparison of mother-child interactions of physically abused and non-abused children during play and talk situations. Journal of Clinical Child Psychology, 12, 337-346.
- McClelland, D. (1973). Testing for competence rather than intelligence. American Psychologist, 28, 1-14.

- Meier, J.H. (1985). Definition, dynamics and prevalence of assault against children: A multifactorial model. In J.H. Meier (Ed.), Assault against children (pp.1-46). San Diego, CA:: College-Hill press.
- Melnick, B., & Hurley, J.R. (1969). Distinctive personality attributes of child abusing mothers. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 33, 746-749.
- Milner, J.S. (1980). Child Abuse Potential Inventory: Manual. Webster, NC.: Psytec Corp.
- Milner, J.S., & Wimberly, R.C. (1979). An inventory for the identification of child abusers. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 35, 95-100.
- Milner, J.S., & Wimberley, R.C. (1980). Prediction and explanation of child abuse. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 36, 875-884.
- Milner, J.S., Gold, R., Ayoub, C., & Jacewitz, M. (1984).

  Predictive validity of child abuse potential inventory.

  <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 52,

  879-884.
- Milowe, I., & Lourie, R. (1964). The child's role in the battered child syndrome. <u>Journal of Pediatrics</u>, <u>65</u>, 1079-1081.
- Morris, M., & Gould, R. (1963). Role reversal: A necessary concept in dealing with the battered child syndrome.

  <u>American Journal of Orthopsychiatry</u>, 33, 298-299.
- Myers, J. (1979). <u>Fundamentals</u> of <u>experimental</u> <u>design</u>. Boston, MA.: Allyn and Bacon.
- Newberger, C.M., & Cook, S.J. (1983). Parental awareness and child abuse: A cognitive-developmental analysis of urban and rural samples. <u>American Journal of Orthopsychiatry</u>, 53, 512-524.
- Oates, R.K., & Forrest, D. (1985). Self esteem and early background of abusive mothers. <u>International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect</u>, 9, 89-93.
- Oates, R.K., Forrest, D., & Peacock, A. (1985). Self esteem of abused children. <u>International</u> <u>Journal</u> of <u>Child Abuse</u> and <u>Neglect</u>, 9, 159-163.

- Ounsted, C., & Lynch, M. (1976). Family pathology as seen in England. In R.E. Helfer & C.H. Kempe (Eds.), Child abuse and neglect: The family and the community (pp.75-86). Cambridge, MA.: Ballinger.
- Ounsted, C., Oppenheimer, R., & Lindsay, J. (1974). Aspects of bonding failure: The psychopathology and psychotherapeutic treatment of families of battered children. <u>Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology</u>, 16, 447-456.
- Parke, R.D. (1974). Rules, roles and resistance to deviation:
  Recent advances in punishment, discipline and self
  control. In A. Pick (Ed.), Minnesota Symposium on Child
  Psychology Vol. 8. (pp.111-143). Minneapolis: University
  of Minnesota Press.
- Parke, R.D. (1978). Child abuse: An overview of alternative models. <u>Journal of Pediatric Psychology</u>, 3, 9-13.
- Parke, R.D., & Collmer, C.W. (1975). Child abuse: An interdisciplinary analysis. In E.M. Hetherington (Ed.), Review of child development research: Vol 5 (pp.509-590). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Patterson, G.R. (1976). The aggressive child: Victim and architect of a coercive system. In E. Mash, L. Hamerlynck, & L. Handy (Eds.), Behaviour modification and families (pp.267-316). New York: Brunner/Mazel.
- Patterson, G.R. (1982). <u>Coercive family process</u>. Eugene, OR.: Castalia.
- Pearce, J.W., & Walsh, K.L. (1984). Characteristics of abused children: Research findings. <u>Canada's Mental Health</u>, 32(2), 2-6.
- Pelton, L.H. (1978). Child abuse and neglect: The myth of classessness. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 48, 608-617.
- Plotkin, R., Azar, S., Twentyman, C., & Perri, M. (1981). A critical evaluation of the research methodology employed in the investigation of causative factors of child abuse and neglect. International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect, 5, 449-455.
- Pollock, C., & Steele, B. (1972). A therapeutic approach to the parents. In C.H. Kempe & R. Helfer (Eds.), Helping the battered child and his family (pp.3-21). Philadelphia: J.B. Lippincott.

- Potts, D., & Herzberger, S. (1979, May). Child abuse: A cross-generational pattern of child rearing. Paper presented at the meeting of the Midwestern Psychological Association, Chicago, IL.
- Pruitt, D., & Erikson, M. (1985). The child abuse potential inventory: A study of concurrent validity. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 41, 104-111.
- Ricks, M. (1985). The social transmission of parental behavior: Attachment across generations. In I. Bretherton & E. Waters (Eds.), Growing points of attachment theory and research (pp. 211-227). Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 50(1-2, Serial No. 209).
- Rohner, R., & Rohner, E. (1980). Antecedents and consequences of parental rejection: A theory of emotional abuse.

  <u>International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect</u>, 4,

  189-198.
- Rosen, B., & Stein, M. (1980). Women who abuse their children.

  <u>American Journal of Diseases of Children</u>, 134, 947-950.
- Rosenberg, M., & Reppucci, N. (1983). Abusive mothers:

  Perceptions of their own and their children's behavior.

  Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 51,

  674-682.
  - Salzinger, S., Kaplan, S., & Artemyeff, C. (1983). Mothers' personal social networks and child maltreatment. <u>Journal of Abnormal Psychology</u>, 92, 68-76.
  - Sarason, I.G., Johnson, J.H., & Siegel, J.M. (1978). Assessing the impact of life change: Development of the Life Experiences Survey. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, 46, 932-946.
  - Schaffer, H., & Emerson, P. (1964). Patterns of response to physical contact in early human development. <u>Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry</u>, 5, 1-13.
  - Schneider, C., Hoffmeister, J., & Helfer, R. (1976). A predictive screening questionnaire for potential prblems in mother-child interaction. In R. Helfer, & C.H. Kempe (Eds.), Child abuse and neglect: The family and the community (pp. 393-407). Cambridge, MA: Ballinger.
  - Scott, W. (1980). Attachment and child abuse: A study of social history indicators among mothers of abused children. In G.J. Williams & J. Money (Eds.), Traumatic abuse and neglect of children at home (pp. 130-142). Baltimore, MD.: John Hopkins Press.

- Selye, H. (1966). The stress of life. New York: McGraw Hill.
- Shorkey, C. (1980). Sense of personal worth, self esteem and anomia of child abusing mothers and controls. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>36</u>, 817-820.
- Shorkey, C., & Armendariz, J. (1985). Personal worth, self esteem, anomia, hostility and irrational thinking of abusing mothers: A multivaraite approach. <u>Journal of Clinical Psychology</u>, 41, 414-421.
- Silver, L.B., Dublin, C.C., & Lourie, R.S. (1969). Does violence breed violence? Contributions from a study of the child abuse syndrome. American Journal of Psychiatry, 126, 404-407.
- Solomon, G. (1979). Child abuse and developmental disabilities.

  <u>Developmental Medicine and Child Neurology</u>, 21, 101-106.
- Spinetta, J., & Rigler, D. (1972). The child-abusing parent: A psychological review. Psychological Bulletin, 77, 296-304.
- Starr, R.H. (1982). Child abuse prediction: Policy implications. Cambridge, MA.: Ballinger.
  - Starr, R.H., Ceresnie, S., & Rossi, J. (1976). What child abuse researchers don't tell about child abuse research.

    Pediatric Psychology , 1, 50-53.
  - Steele, B. (1976). Violence within the family. In R. E. Helfer & C. H. Kempe (Eds.), Child abuse and neglect: The family and the community (pp.3-23). Cambridge, MA.: Ballinger.
  - Steele, B., & Pollock, C. (1968). A psychiatric study of parents who abuse infants and small children. In R. Helfer & C.H. Kempe (Eds.), The battered child (pp.89-133). Chicago, IL.: University of Chicago Press.
  - Straus, M. (1980). Stress and physical child abuse.

    International Journal of Child Abuse and Neglect, 4,
    75-88.
  - Steinmetz, S., & Straus, M. (Eds.). (1974). <u>Violence in the family</u>. New York: Dodd Mead.
  - Thomas, A., Chess, S., & Birch, H. (1970). The origins of personality. Scientific American, 223(2), 102-109.
  - Tietjen, A.M., & Bradley, C.F. (1985). Social support and maternal psychosocial adjustment during the transition to parenthood. <u>Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science</u>, <u>17</u>, 109-121.

- Vesterdal, J. (1978). Psychological mechanisms in child abusing parents. In J.M. Eekelaar & S.N. Katz (Eds.), Family violence: An international and interdisciplinary study (pp.290-294). Toronto, Canada: Butterworths.
- Wolfe, D.A. (1985). Child abusive parents: An empirical review and analysis. Psychological Bulletin, 97, 462-482.
- Wolfe, D.A., & Mosk, M.D. (1983). Behavioral comparisons of children from abusive and distressed families. <u>Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology</u>, <u>51</u>, 702-708.
- Wright, L. (1976). The "sick but slick" syndrome as a personality component of parents of battered children.

  Journal of Clinical Psychology, 32, 41-45.
- Yarrow, M.R., Campbell, J.D., & Burton, R.V. (1970).

  Recollections of childhood. A study of the retrospective method. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 35(5, Serial No. 138).
- Young, L. (1964). <u>Wednesday's children:</u> A study of child neglect and abuse. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Zigler, E. (1979). Controlling child abuse in America: An effort doomed to failure? In R. Bourne & E. Newberger (Eds.),

  Critical perspectives on child abuse. Lexington, MA.:

  Lexington Books.